

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Purkayastha, Damini; Vanroelen, Christophe; Bircan, Tuba; Vantyghem, Marthe Andrea; Gantelet Adsera, Clara

Research Report Work, health and Covid-19: A literature review

Report, No. 2021.03

Provided in Cooperation with: European Trade Union Institute (ETUI), Brussels

Suggested Citation: Purkayastha, Damini; Vanroelen, Christophe; Bircan, Tuba; Vantyghem, Marthe Andrea; Gantelet Adsera, Clara (2021) : Work, health and Covid-19: A literature review, Report, No. 2021.03, ISBN 978-2-87452-601-5, European Trade Union Institute (ETUI), Brussels

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/299654

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Work, health and Covid-19: a literature review

Damini Purkayastha, Christophe Vanroelen, Tuba Bircan, Marthe Andrea Vantyghem and Clara Gantelet Adsera

keport 2021.03



Work, health and Covid-19: a literature review

Damini Purkayastha, Christophe Vanroelen, Tuba Bircan, Marthe Andrea Vantyghem and Clara Gantelet Adsera

Report 2021.03 european trade union institut

ETUI publications are published to elicit comment and to encourage debate. The views expressed are those of the author(s) alone and do not necessarily represent the views of the ETUI nor those of the members of its general assembly.

Brussels, 2021 [®] Publisher: ETUI aisbl, Brussels All rights reserved Print: ETUI Printshop, Brussels

D/2021/10.574/11 ISBN: 978-2-87452-600-8 (print version) ISBN: 978-2-87452-601-5 (electronic version)



The ETUI is financially supported by the European Union. The European Union is not responsible for any use made of the information contained in this publication.

Contents

1.	Introduction	5
2.	Tracking OSH and Covid-19 through existing data	9
2.1	International statistical assessment of Covid-19 and specific occupations	10
2.2	At-risk occupations in the EU	12
2.3	The importance of data for a better response	13
3.	Case studies: how Covid-19 impacts specific sectors	15
3.1	Healthcare sector	16
3.2	Service sector occupations	19
3.3	Mines under corona	21
3.4	Meat-processing plants	23
3.5	Agricultural labour and disease exposure	25
4.	Occupational inequalities as clinical variables	28
4.1 4.2	Working conditions: physical settings leading to higher exposure to Covid-19 Employment conditions: precarious contracts and lack of employee	29
	participation	31
4.3	Sociodemographic variables: migration, ethnicity and gender as exacerbating	25
	Tactors	35
5.	Discussion: the way forward	41
6.	Conclusion	46
Refe	erences	47
Ann	iex	59
Ann	ex 1 Sectors declared 'crucial' in association with Covid-19 by the Dutch	
	Government	59
Ann	ex 2 A visual representation of the hierarchy of control	61

Abstract

With work a key vector of Covid-19 transmission, this report examines why it is critical that occupational health and safety measures take centre stage in mitigation policies. Workers in sectors declared essential by state authorities have been mandated to continue working in physical settings during the pandemic. Several such sectors involve many face-to-face contacts with colleagues and clients, meaning that workers face a higher risk of exposure to Covid-19. Unregulated safety measures, a lack of personal protective equipment and crowded settings further increase the risk in these sectors. Persisting inequalities are exacerbated by the pandemic, as low-wage workers, workers from ethnic minorities, migrant workers and women are overrepresented in these sectors. They also face intersecting factors, including precarious contracts, job insecurity, inadequate paid sick leave, a lack of bargaining power and low socioeconomic status. The risks faced by (recent) migrants are compounded by the fact that their residence permits, access to healthcare and housing may be mediated by their employers. Studies show that there is also a gender dimension to the OSH implications of the pandemic, with women facing a higher exposure to the disease, a higher care burden and an increased risk of domestic violence. These patterns of inequality play a significant role in a health crisis, determining who is at greater risk of becoming infected, and whether or not they will have access to healthcare and self-isolation. Besides recognising Covid-19 as an occupational disease and providing adequate protection to workers across sectors, it is important for OSH measures to go beyond workplace exposure to the disease and to include the various factors increasing exposure because of work. Policy recommendations include better representation of workers at all levels of employment, sector-specific OSH measures, broader EU-wide policies and infrastructures, improved job security and sick leave policies, disaggregated data collection and inclusive messaging.

Acknowledgements

Laurent Vogel (ETUI), Karen Van Aerden (VUB), Kim Bosmans (VUB), Marian Schaapman (ETUI), Bianca Luna Fabris (ETUI) and Ahmad Wali Ahmad Yar (VUB)

1. Introduction

In December 2019, the World Health Organisation (WHO) rang the first alarm bells reporting the outbreak of SARS-CoV-2, a new strain of the coronavirus family in China. On 11 March 2020, after 100,000 cases had been reported worldwide, WHO declared the disease a pandemic, with countries around the world going into varying degrees of lockdown. Governments declared certain occupations as belonging to key/essential services necessary to keep society functioning. Worldwide, many 'key workers' (healthcare workers, transportation workers, first responders and food chain workers among others) continued to work in hazardous conditions even as infections peaked. In October 2020, several European Union countries faced a second wave of infections and, once again, lockdowns with varying degrees of severity were implemented to constrain the spread of infection. By January 2021, 103 million infections and 2.23 million deaths worldwide had been reported by the WHO.

The Covid-19 pandemic is an unfolding watershed moment in human experience. Besides the staggering death toll and the immediate economic and health impact, the pandemic has also exposed the fault lines of modern-day society, laying bare the disparities sustained within global economies (Yancy 2020). Over the course of the crisis, it has become evident that there is little symmetry between the workers necessary to sustain society and the safety and security (financial, social and health) offered to them. Emerging Covid-19 and labour market policies have focused on building resilience in terms of available labour, fighting unemployment and mitigating future economic shocks rather than on prioritising workplace safety. This is a critical error as it leaves society's most vulnerable workers most exposed to the virus and makes it difficult for economies to resume work without high human cost.

At the start of the pandemic, as the scientific community grappled with understanding the virus and put forward proposals for safety measures, guidelines from other respiratory illnesses formed the first set of measures implemented. Based on these insights, lockdown, social distancing and working-from-home measures were enforced overnight in several countries. Several sectors faced higher risks of exposure to the disease as these safety guidelines were not easy to implement in specific work settings. There was also a significant overlap between at-risk sectors and those declared 'key'¹ and ordered to continue working. Involving

^{1.} Workers from sectors declared 'essential'/'key'/'frontline' during the pandemic are referred to as 'key workers' in the document.

physical contact with colleagues, clients and customers, social distancing or working-from-home measures were often not possible in these sectors (Koh and Goh 2020; Windsor-Shellard and Butt 2020; Windsor-Shellard and Kaur 2020; Barbieri *et al.* 2020; Counil and Khlat 2020).

Besides healthcare workers, infections were reported among delivery workers, food store employees, sanitation workers and other frontline staff. Gig economy workers, short term/zero-hour contract workers and migrant workers employed by subcontractors were also left exposed. These outcomes highlight that physical settings and working conditions are not the only drivers of the disease, but that employment conditions and related socioeconomic vulnerabilities also exacerbate exposure to the infection and subsequent mortality (Bavel *et al.* 2020; Berger *et al.* 2020).

In the EU, infection outbreaks in factories, farms and industries throughout the summer also mainstreamed discussions on grim working conditions of workers, especially in settings where basic sanitation measures such as handwashing and maintaining a distance of two metres were difficult to implement. Low-wage workers have to live with precarious, short-term contracts, a lack of paid sick leave and healthcare. The overrepresentation of migrants and ethnic minorities among these workers has also made labour market and migration policies and employment discrimination a critical aspect of this discussion.

All in all, the pandemic has brought into focus three critical dimensions of occupational safety and health (OSH): (1) whether the work environment and conditions are safe for workers; (2) whether employment conditions incorporate the protection of workers' health; (3) and whether workers are empowered to safeguard their own health and that of their co-workers. In the context of Covid-19, these aspects of OSH are equally critical. Safe, healthy working conditions have been recognised as a fundamental workers' right (Nice European Council, 2000, Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union, Article 31). However, ambiguities and exceptions (for example, allowing sub-contracting and limited recognition of biothreats) make it difficult to guarantee them in every sector of work. Workplaces must be adapted according to scientific guidance in order to ensure that workers' exposure to Covid-19 is limited and that they feel safe. Robust legislation is also needed to ensure sick leave and insurance in case of sickness. The third – often forgotten – dimension is the possibility for workers to have a say in the measures taken for their own safety. In an open letter to the European Parliament in June 2020², transnational EU trade union organisations argued that workers should be empowered to take part in policy discussions. 'Social dialogue in the workplace, including collective bargaining and worker involvement' should be central to measures being put in place regarding safety, working conditions and

^{2.} In May, several European union organisations wrote an open letter to the European Parliament demanding enhanced worker rights to counter the pandemic's growing impact on OSH. Participating trade unions were: European Trade Union Confederation (ETUC), IndustriAll, UNI-Europa, European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Trade (EFFAT), European Federation of Public Service Unions (EPSU), European Training Foundation (ETF) and the European Federation of Building and Woodworkers (EFBWW). https://bit.ly/20e6f6o

jobs in order to ensure the best possible outcomes for workers and the community. The benefit of workers' engagement – inter alia via their trade unions – has been demonstrated in earlier research (Ollé-Espluga *et al.* 2020).

Even though some countries have declared Covid-19 an occupational disease, policies around OSH do not address employment conditions, worker relations and socio-economic determinants directly impacting health and mortality rates. In the absence of global data on work-related infections and the tenuous tradeoff between health and the economy, the discussion has largely focused on the availability of protective equipment for healthcare workers, occupations requiring physical contact, and on working-from-home and social distancing measures for other sectors. It is clear, however, that the scope of the problem is far broader.

This report aims to bring together the multiple and intertwined aspects of occupational health and safety and worker protection in the Covid-19 pandemic. Work on the report began in April 2020 as a collaborative project between the European Trade Union Institute and the Vrije Universiteit Brussel. It presents an overview of scientific research, surveys and policy reports addressing Covid-19 as an occupational disease and the various intersecting factors that exacerbate the health inequities related to Covid-19. It merges academic insights from different disciplines (ranging from more medical scientific studies to sociological and economic insights) with (news) reports and studies conducted by trade unions and NGOs.

As countries across the European Union look towards effective policies for reopening workplaces and ways to function efficiently despite the virus, we argue that the broad domain of occupational safety and health issues should be at the core of any decisions taken. In doing so, it is important to understand which occupations are at risk in terms of working conditions, what safety measures can minimise these risks, and what employment conditions exacerbate these threats. We also look at how improved employment conditions and stronger employment relations between workers, unions and employers and the state will ensure that the best possible safety measures are in place across workplaces. We believe that the conclusions of this review will also be important in the next phase of the pandemic when increasing vaccination levels will help open up additional sectors of the economy. Moreover, the insights documented in this study will remain relevant to post-Covid society to the extent that new OSH challenges will have to be overcome.

The report is structured as follows:

In **Section 2** we present studies on occupations and working conditions designed to assess links between occupations and Covid-19 risks early in the pandemic. These studies highlight the need for global data on occupational outcomes, especially on how the pandemic unfolded.

In **Section 3** we present a broad overview of some of the sectors with the highest incidence of infection and fatalities: the healthcare sector, elderly homes, services, mining, meat processing and agriculture. We explore how national policies specific to the pandemic, alongside existing systemic exclusions, have an implicit role to

Damini Purkayastha, Christophe Vanroelen, Tuba Bircan, Marthe Andrea Vantyghem and Clara Gantelet Adsera

play in the fallout faced by workers. Several case studies are also presented to better illustrate the scope of the problem.

Section 4 forms the cornerstone of this report. Drawing on findings from real-world scenarios and academic studies, we argue that there are three critical dimensions to occupational safety and health: physical settings at work, employment conditions and sociological conditions created and sustained by employment. We start by looking at which working conditions make workers more susceptible to infection. We then go on to look at specific employment conditions and relations that make workers unable to follow or benefit from OSH protocols. Intersecting with existing socio-economic determinants such as class, gender, race and ethnicity, these factors serve to exacerbate the risk of exposure to Covid-19.

Section 5 brings together our findings and expert commentary on the way forward with regard to occupational safety and health, both in the ongoing pandemic and in the event of future shocks. It is also intended to provide a starting point for discussions on rethinking occupational safety and health and shaping a more robust and all-inclusive response mechanism.

2. Tracking OSH and Covid-19 through existing data

There is no standardised global data available on the occupations of Covid-19 victims, nor on where they are likely to have been infected. However, patterns of work-related infection outbreaks have been observed throughout sectors. In October 2020, the International Council of Nurses³ confirmed that 1,500 nurses had died from Covid-19 in 44 countries. Estimating that healthcare worker fatalities could be more than 20,000, they state that assessments are being hampered by a lack of data (ICN 2020).

Barring sporadic news reports and studies (explored in detail later), consistent and in-depth data on the exposure parameters and mitigation strategies remains lacking. Without this data, 'we do not know the true cost of Covid-19 and that will make us less able to tackle other pandemics in the future', said Howard Catton, ICN CEO, in a statement issued by the ICN in 2020.

Standardised and reliable data provides a starting point for studies, especially when it reveals which settings make workers more vulnerable, which countries have lower infection rates among certain occupations and why certain communities are more vulnerable than others. Unfortunately, this information is not currently collected in every country. It is also not being collected by the United Nations, the World Health Organisation or the International Labour Organisation.

Several studies have attempted to calculate the risk of exposure to Covid-19 based on existing information on occupations, their working conditions and labour force. Such assessments were particularly critical in the pandemic's early stages, when the link between occupational settings and infection rates was not directly clear. These studies have also established the need to factor in more than physical workplace settings, also looking at such factors as income levels, job precarity and workers' rights when discussing occupational safety.

In this section, we first look at analyses based on O*Net data⁴ from the US and labour force survey data from the UK and some other studies from around the world. We then go on to look at studies from European countries focused on estimating at-risk populations. The final part of the section argues that turning a

The International Council of Nurses is a federation of 130 national nurses' associations. It has been tracking infections and deaths among healthcare workers in the ongoing pandemic.

^{4.} O*Net is the database of the United States department of labour. It is updated with descriptions and characters of the world of work and the workforce.

blind eye to the link between occupations and Covid-19 exposure is problematic as it means that vulnerable populations will miss out on necessary safety measures – and that possible sources leading to a resurgence of the epidemic may remain unnoticed.

2.1 International statistical assessment of Covid-19 and specific occupations

At the start of the global pandemic, lessons from previous coronavirus outbreaks such as SARS (2002-2004) and MERS (2012 onwards)⁵ fuelled discussions on safety protocols. Key lessons learned included the 'recognition that working in healthcare settings can be hazardous to health', and that 'the disease poses both a public health as well as an occupational health threat' (Koh and Goh 2020). In their analysis of the situation in Singapore (one of the earliest outbreaks of the disease outside China), authors found that 68% of cases first reported were 'probably related to occupational exposure' (ibid). including retail staff, domestic workers, tour guides, MNC staffers travelling abroad, security officers, drivers and construction workers.

One of the earliest analyses of occupational data and exposure risks was conducted by the World Economic Forum and Visual Capitalist. They performed a risk assessment of occupations based on data from the US labour database O*Net (Lu 2020). This database includes descriptors on nearly 1,000 occupations, with details on proximity and exposure to others. Occupations were evaluated based on three criteria: contact with others, physical proximity and exposure to disease and infection. These were further plotted along average income levels, highlighting how a large number of at-risk jobs were in a lower-income band. Besides healthcare workers with a risk assessment score of 90+ in most cases, teachers, food store staff, bus drivers and other key workers had a score of 60+, indicating that these are jobs with a higher prevalence of face-to-face contacts and thus with a higher likelihood of exposure to the disease. A large number of higherrisk workers are clustered in the lowest income levels (Fig. 1). They include teacher assistants, nursing assistants, orderlies, retail salespersons and bus drivers. This link between low pay and high risk alerts us to a critical dimension that we will explore further in later sections.

The UK Office for National Statistics (ONS) has also created an estimate of exposure on the basis of physical proximity. Besides healthcare workers, prison officers, teachers (special needs and primary), bus and coach drivers and retail staff were amongst those with high weekly levels of exposure to other people. In June, the ONS also analysed mortality rates by occupation (Windsor-Shellard and Butt 2020), finding that 'men in elementary occupations had the highest rate of death involving Covid-19, with 39.7 deaths per 100,000 men'. Of these, security guards had the highest death rate. Men and women in social care work also had

^{5.} Both Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) and Middle Eastern Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) are caused by strains of coronavirus and can cause serious respiratory difficulties.



Figure 1 An analysis of occupations at the highest risk of exposure to Covid-19

Source: World Economic Forum and Visual Capitalist. www.visualcapitalist.com/the-front-line-visualizing-the-occupations-with-the-highest-Covid-19-risk/

higher death rates than in other occupations. Overall, 17 occupations were found to have higher numbers of Covid-19-related deaths – inter alia taxi drivers and chauffeurs, bus and coach drivers, chefs and sales and retail assistants. Of these occupations, 11 had statistically higher proportions of workers from BAME (Black and Asian Minority Ethnic) backgrounds (including nurses, care workers and home carers, shopkeepers and sales and retail assistants)⁶. The UK has instructed doctors to inform coroners if they suspect that a death might be due to certain

^{6.} The occupations include: shopkeepers and proprietors, nurses, book-keepers, vehicle technicians, mechanics and electricians, chefs, nursing, care workers and home carers, sales and retail assistants, food, drink and tobacco process workers, van drivers, bus and coach drivers, taxi and cab drivers, elementary construction, postal workers, cleaners and domestic workers, security guards and related, and storage workers.

extraneous factors including 'an injury or disease attributable to any employment held by the person...'; this then forms the basis for further investigation. Agius (2020) argues that this should also be done when doctors and medical personnel die during the pandemic. An updated report from January 2021 noted that 7,961 Covid-19 related deaths in the working age population were registered between March and December 2020: 'Men who worked in elementary occupations (699) or caring, leisure and other service occupations had the highest rates of death.'

In an observation-based study of 103 possible work-related cases in six Asian countries (Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, Taiwan, Thailand and Vietnam) Lan *et al.* 2020 noted that 22% were healthcare workers, 18% drivers and transport workers, 18% service and sales workers, 9% cleaning and domestic workers and 7% public safety workers.

2.2 At-risk occupations in the EU

The occupational fallout of the Covid-19 pandemic is multidimensional. Some sectors face economic consequences and job losses due to the lockdown, especially in jobs that cannot be done from home and those hit by a drop in demand. Sectors continuing to operate are subject to higher workplace exposure to the disease. In this section, we present some early studies which have attempted to estimate these outcomes based on existing labour market data at European or country level in order to help formulate mitigation strategies.

The EU Labour Force Survey collects data (among other things) on the characteristics of occupations, training and hours of work. Sanchez *et al.* (2020) used this data to learn which jobs were most exposed to Covid-19 risks. They found that higher-exposure jobs, unless declared essential, were more likely to be cut. They also found that 35% of jobs in the EU could be done from home, with the number higher in wealthier Northern European countries such as the Netherlands, Denmark, Switzerland and Sweden. This leaves a large part of the workforce vulnerable to unemployment or to facing Covid-19-related risks at work: 'Especially young and poorly educated workers [who are] already employed in low-paying jobs, live in regions that are already lagging and are subject to a greater prevalence of temporary employment contracts' (Sanchez *et al.* 2020:6).

According to an analysis by the French Institute for Demographic Studies (INED), the working classes (*classes populaires*) face a higher risk of exposure to infection at work (Counil and Khlat 2020). The authors analysed data from the French Ministry of Labour on 23 million salaried workers in the public and private sectors (excluding the self-employed), looking specifically at the high number of employees with face-to-face contact with the public. Cleaners, retail staff, domestic helpers, guards, hotel employees were among the occupations in the lowest income percentile, but with the highest exposure levels. '41% of the bottom quarter of earners belonged to the highly exposed group' (Counil and Khlat 2020). This study also notes that exposure conditions have changed in the course of the pandemic depending on measures taken. In March 2020, at least 33% of those surveyed had not received gloves and over 39% had no masks – conditions likely

to have changed since. Another significant blind spot is that this study did not consider unsalaried/temporary workers.

Barbieri, Basso and Scicchitani (2020) performed a similar analysis of Italian occupations based on data from the Sample Survey on Occupations in Italy. Each occupation was assigned a degree of human proximity, workplace exposure and ability to work from home. Their findings were meant to guide policymakers on which sectors were to reopen first. While the health sector was found to be most at-risk, other sectors assessed to have a high risk of disease exposure included preschools, bars, recreational and sports services, phones, clothing and shoe stores. Finance, banking, insurance, public administration and professional services had the highest remote-work feasibility.

Since the start of the lockdown in Belgium, the University of Antwerp, UHasselt, KU Leuven and Université Libre de Bruxelles have been conducting *The big* corona study – a survey to better understand the pandemic's impact. In May 2020, 192 respondents tested positive for Covid-19 were surveyed over two waves of the survey. 98 reported that they felt they had been infected at work; 59 reported working in healthcare. Other sectors mentioned were social services, manufacturing, retail, hotels and restaurants, and education⁷. In August, a Flemish newspaper interviewed leading epidemiologists on the pattern of the spread of Covid-19 infections in Belgium. The specialists noted that work and home had emerged as infection hotspots as per their cluster research. Meat processing factories and the catering industry were among the workplaces mentioned by them (Debusshere 2020). In the context of contact tracing in Flanders (Belgium), tracers ask Covid-19 patients where they think they were infected. Of the 40,904 people interviewed in December, 12% thought they had been infected at work – the second largest group after 'at home' (25.77%)⁸.

2.3 The importance of data for a better response

As seen in the previous sections, even with limited data, there is a clear need for occupational safety to be a critical vector for pandemic safety measures. A number of governments have recognised Covid-19 as an occupational risk/ sickness/disease, albeit with caveats. For one, the onus is often on the worker to get a certificate proving the sickness and a positive test result, and, in some cases, they even have to 'prove' that they were infected at work. Furthermore, a number of cases were reported from sectors with a higher prevalence of informal (and even illegal) employment contracts and conditions. In these contexts, official policies have little impact on improving workers' conditions. Regular, timely and standardised data on the occupations and occupational settings of Covid-19-positive patients is needed in order to come up with more effective policies. Such data will also be critical in ensuring that certain occupations are forced to follow

^{7.} https://corona-studie.shinyapps.io/corona-studie/

^{8.} https://www.zorg-en-gdxsazezondheid.be/contactonderzoek-in-cijfers

strict measures, and that workers can demand equitable working conditions, paid sick leave and compensation.

Vogel (2015) noted that occupational safety standards in the European Union are to a large extent dependent on the rights of workers and the needs of employers (with the latter often winning out). Furthermore, unprotected workers often have no rights. In light of weak legislation on biohazards and emerging diseases and given the economic impact of this disease, it is even more likely that workers will continue to work under high-risk conditions. It is thus important for individual countries and EU-level authorities to study the link between occupations and exposure to airborne diseases in greater detail, with a view to establishing stringent, pan-EU measures.

In the next section, we explore the impact of Covid-19 on specific sectors throughout the EU, assessing how and why existing OSH policies have been inadequate or ineffective.

3. Case studies: how Covid-19 impacts specific sectors

Over the course of 2020, it became clear that, despite its prevalence in the wider community, Covid-19 also had the hallmarks of an occupational disease. Major infection clusters around Europe were found to be directly related to the workplace or work-related exposure. These included incidents among healthcare workers and service sector workers, but also several outbreaks in sectors such as agriculture, mining and meat packaging.

These were partly related to physical working conditions. Control measures suggested to hinder the spread of Covid-19 include reducing face-to-face contacts, social distancing, proper ventilation, hand hygiene, the use of personal protective equipment (such as masks and gloves) and the quarantining or self-isolation of potentially infected people. These measures are challenging to implement in the routine work environments of certain sectors (Bellingheri *et al.* 2020; Koh and Goh 2020; Baker *et al.* 2020; Lan *et al.* 2020). In the absence of clear guidelines and well-funded health and safety infrastructures at national level (for instance, sufficient labour inspectors) in most EU countries, it is also difficult to ensure that the measures are implemented wherever possible⁹.

However, there are other factors that are equally critical but were not addressed immediately or equally – such as access to sick leave, healthcare or even bargaining rights. In the cases presented in this section, we see how precarious employment and working conditions intersect with physical conditions, increasing the risk of exposure to Covid-19. Based on news reports and emerging studies, the cases presented help set the context for an in-depth look at how intersecting vulnerabilities lead to extreme health inequalities. They highlight why a 'whole-of-society' approach is needed to prevent future outbreaks and ensure that workers benefit from a safe and secure working environment. It is critical to bear in mind that outbreaks are always possible wherever safety measures are inadequate.

This section is structured sector-wise, but we begin by explaining why workers in sectors declared essential during the pandemic were especially vulnerable. We go on to look at the impact of Covid-19 on the healthcare sector, the pandemic's 'frontline' sector. We then consider some specific occupations within the service sector, such as caregivers, teachers, delivery workers, security guards and several other key workers, that reported difficult working conditions in the pandemic.

^{9.} https://www.etuc.org/en/document/etuc-note-violations-osh-regulations-returning-workplace

Cases from specific sectors highlight other exacerbating factors that are not obvious but need to be taken into account in any risk assessment (Watterson 2020); these factors include employment conditions, lack of paid sick leave and inadequate housing for workers. To this end, we present an overview of the impact of Covid-19 on agricultural workers, meat packaging workers and miners.

Box 1 Key workers in the labour force

Over the course of the pandemic, most countries set down a list of essential occupations instructed to stay operational during nation-wide lockdowns in order to keep society functioning. These included, among others, healthcare workers, agricultural workers, childcare workers, transport and sanitation workers. Fasani and Mazza (2020) assess that on average 31% of working-age individuals are key workers in the EU, though the figure varies from 40% in Denmark and France to 10% in Bulgaria and Slovenia. The five occupational categories with the most key workers are: teaching professionals (14.5%), skilled agricultural workers (11.9%), science and engineering associated professionals (11.1%), personal care workers (10.3%) and cleaners and helpers. Annex 1 provides a list of occupations declared essential by the Dutch government as a guideline on which workers were eligible for childcare. Most European countries had a similar classification, and we use this as a case in point. Key workers across sectors face a higher likelihood of exposure to Covid-19 than those able to work from home, as they come into contact with people to a relatively higher degree (Lu 2020). Several of these occupations also face exacerbating factors such as congregate settings, a lack of personal protective equipment (PPE) and the need to use public or community transport for commuting. Some might even have had no recourse to the safety measures (such as social distancing and self-quarantine) suggested by the World Health Organisation.

3.1 Healthcare sector

It was a challenge to estimate the number of healthcare workers who have tested positive and/or died from Covid-19 since the start of the pandemic, as not all countries collect data reflecting occupational categories. The WHO has been criticised for the lack of data on Covid-19-specific outcomes, especially regarding healthcare workers (ICN 2020).

Some studies indicate that infection rates among healthcare workers can be as high as 6% (or even more) in certain countries (ICN 2020). In fact, 29% of patients tested positive in Wuhan, China, were healthcare workers and it can be assumed they were infected at work (Wang *et al.* cited in Bielicki *et al.* 2020). Emerging diseases often have a significant impact on healthcare workers (Bielicki *et al.* 2020) as was seen in the previous SARS and MERS outbreaks. Given the lessons learned from previous outbreaks, it was assumed at the start of the pandemic that hospitals would have better occupational health standards, high-grade PPE and safety protocols in place (Koh and Goh 2020).

This was, however, not the case. By November, it was estimated that nearly 300,000 healthcare workers had been infected by Covid-19 (Haseltine 2020) worldwide. In January 2021, it was estimated that nearly 850 UK social care workers had died in England and Wales (Shone 2021). Looking at the high number of infections across the EU throughout 2020, infections among healthcare workers similarly remained high. In July, the European Federation of Public Service Unions (EPSU) reported that more than 3,400 health workers in Denmark, 13,400 in Germany, 28,000 in Italy and 52,400 in Spain had been infected¹⁰. In June 2020, the Dutch Public Health Institute RIVM reported nearly 17,000 infections among healthcare workers and 11 deaths. According to a study by Sciensano and the Institute of Tropical Medicine in Antwerp, 8.4% of all healthcare workers in Belgium had developed antibodies to the virus, implying that they had been exposed to the virus at some point (Desombere, Mortgat and Duysburg 2020). These tests were conducted on staff treating Covid and non-Covid patients.

The *working conditions* of healthcare workers are a critical determinant of their level of exposure. Though exposure to the disease while treating patients is unavoidable, the proper use of PPE and basic infection prevention and control (IPC) is found to be quite effective even for healthcare workers (Adams and Walls 2020; Bielicki *et al.* 2020). Unfortunately, at the start of the pandemic, healthcare systems worldwide reported concerns about a lack of protective equipment for healthcare workers (face masks, gloves, protective suits). Longer working hours and heightened stress were also seen as a factor increasing the risk of becoming infected with Covid-19. According to a UK report by Data Evaluation and Learning for Viral Epidemics on the risks and exposure of health and social workers, one in ten cases in England occurred among frontline health and social care staff (Torjesen 2020). The report cites a number of reasons for these high numbers, including:

'Inconsistent use of masks and other personal protective equipment (PPE); lack of access to testing; lack of physical distancing between staff and patients, not just on wards but also in corridors, offices and canteens; environmental and hygiene problems, including disinfection of surfaces and ventilation; difficulties in avoiding mixing infected and uninfected patients; rotation of staff between different locations; and inadequate surveillance systems both to investigate individual infections and wider outbreaks' (DELVE Report cited by Torjesen 2020: 370).

Similar situations were reported in Belgium and Italy. Besides doctors and practitioners dealing directly with Covid-19 patients, doctors in a general healthcare setting are also exposed to the disease (Adams and Walls 2020). Administrative staff, cafeteria workers and sanitation workers in hospital settings also had higher risks of contracting the disease (Spinazze, Cattaneo and Cavallo 2020). Berger *et al.* (2020) point out that burnout is a serious concern when it comes to healthcare workers (HCWs) and first responders. Ran *et al.* (2020) found long working hours and lack of sleep to be predisposing factors to Covid-19 in the case of healthcare workers.

^{10.} https://www.epsu.org/article/health-workers-bear-brunt-covid-19-infections

Employment conditions also play a significant role in determining the extent of exposure. In May 2020, doctors and nurses in Belgium protested against the government's lack of measures to help healthcare workers during the crisis. That same month, the Irish Nurses and Midwives Organisation reported that nurses who had signed up to help on the frontline as part of the national 'Be On Call For Ireland Campaign' not only had short-term contracts but were also not entitled to any sick leave (Holland 2020). In Germany, nursing is reportedly understaffed and underpaid compared to other occupations, with nurses earning on average about 1,000 euros per month less than the national median wage (Thurau 2020). According to a report by the World Economic Forum in association with Statista France, French nurses in the public sector are among the lowest paid in the EU in relative terms (The Local 2020; Gaudiaut 2020).

Socioeconomic factors also play a key role. Migrant care workers (especially women) account for a large share of healthcare and social care workers worldwide (Foley and Piper 2020). A prospective, observational cohort study in the UK and the USA studied self-reported data from the general population and front-line healthcare workers, finding that while frontline healthcare workers suffered a higher risk of exposure, PPE adequacy, clinical settings and ethnic backgrounds were critical factors as well (Nguyen *et al.* 2020). Surprisingly, over 90% of healthcare workers who died from Covid-19 in the UK (as of May) had BAME backgrounds (Daga *et al.* 2020). The authors conducted a survey among BAME doctors to ask about their specific vulnerabilities to Covid-19; doctors reported a lack of PPE and their inability to apply social distancing in clinical settings and to self-isolate in the case of symptoms.

Workers in elderly care homes face similar conditions. Across Europe, a high number of deaths were in elderly care homes. A percentage of these were care workers, with the British government estimating (in May) that 131 care staff had died of the virus. The ONS has reportedly also estimated that 'care staff are twice as likely to die compared to healthcare workers' (Holt and Butcher 2020).

According to an OECD report on long-term care workers and Covid-19, working conditions are difficult and safety protocols cannot be implemented. These conditions are exacerbated by a lack of training and understaffing, precarious contracts (including non-standard employment), job insecurity, low social protections and low wages (Scarpetta et al. 2020). 'The median hourly wage for long-term care-workers across 11 OECD countries was EUR 9 per hour in 2014, compared to EUR 14 for hospital workers in the same occupation. Low wages are one of the reasons for the high turnover in long-term care settings (Scarpetta et al. 2020). Statistically, 90% of long-term care workers are women, 70% are not qualified as nurses (they are hired as personal care workers and have low job entry requirements) and do not receive sufficient training. The BBC reported that care staff in the UK are often on zero-hour contracts or work via agencies and visit homes. In such cases, monitoring the use of scarce PPE becomes even more difficult (Holt and Butcher 2020). Similar circumstances have been reported in Sweden, with the Swedish government recently announcing plans for better training and permanent jobs (Savage 2020). In the Netherlands, a news report on the situation in care homes found that advice received from the *RIVM* lacked

clarity and was not backed by scientific evidence, especially with regard to the use of protective equipment while handling patients (Holdert and van Hest 2020).

3.2 Service sector occupations

A number of key service sector occupations (i.e. services that cater to a specific need) are also high-risk due to their settings. Examples include sanitation workers, domestic services, social services, first responders, police and educational professionals. These employees have continued working during the lockdown, even though safety guidelines could not always be respected. Below we look briefly at sectors featuring high infection levels, in many cases precarious employment conditions, and the subject of consistent reporting.

Educational institutions and day care facilities remained open in most EU countries for a major part of 2020. Initially it was only to ensure that key workers could leave their children in care. In subsequent months schools and day care centres opened with social distancing measures, 'bubbles' to limit contacts and regular testing for teachers (Dewan 2020). However, if multiple cases were reported among students and the staff, those specific schools were quarantined for a period. Teachers and other school staff are considered as at-risk populations, given their daily and largely face-to-face interaction with large numbers of people (Gaffney, Himmelstein and Woolhandler 2020). A study by the Bank of Italy and the National Institute for Public Policy Analysis worked with data and surveys on occupations to calculate risks on the basis of proximity, exposure and flexibility. The researchers noted that, besides the health sector, preschool workers and workers in bars were also at risk of exposure (Barbieri, Basso and Scicchitano 2020). Initial studies indicated that children were unlikely to be drivers of infection and that, with proper measures in place, preschools and schools could safely open (Ludvigsson 2020; Walger et al. 2020). However, studies based on the second wave of the pandemic in Europe indicate that children, especially teenagers (RIVM)¹¹, might be infected just as often and therefore might be critical infection spreaders. By January 2021, with more infectious variants of the virus emerging, a number of European countries had adopted different policies: Austria, Denmark, Germany, Ireland and the Netherlands were among the countries that shut down schools, while France and Belgium were among those where they remained open (Bender 2020).

Delivery workers and couriers face a higher risk of contact with different people. According to a report based on cases in Sweden, taxi drivers were 4.8 times more likely to be infected by Covid-19 (Folkhälsomyndigheten 2020b). According to an investigative article by Politico in March, delivery workers and couriers in Italy and France often do not benefit from social protection. Typically employed as gig workers, they receive no sick leave and no benefits. Even though governments have extended social security coverage to a number of occupations during the pandemic, couriers tend to remain uncovered (Braun, Kayali and Tamma 2020).

^{11.} https://www.rivm.nl/en/novel-coronavirus-covid-19/children-and-covid-19

Furthermore, workers reported that some platforms did not provide PPE or any safety measures for their employees. In some cases, multinational companies had different responses for different countries, the Politico report found. While Uber guaranteed sick leave up to 14 days for employees around the world, Bolt, another ridesharing platform, only gave sick leave to its London-based employees. In September, the OECD published a report on the measures taken by platforms to protect workers during the crisis: 745 respondents were surveyed, including platforms and workers. Two-thirds of delivery platforms reported encouraging contactless deliveries and adopting WHO or national guidelines. A quarter reported reimbursing the cost of PPE or sending PPE to workers' homes. Several companies reported offering financial support (such as sick leave, a percentage of hospital fees, reduced targets, etc) but most measures were accompanied by caveats. Around 35% of surveyed workers reported that their platforms had taken measures to assist them, while less than half (44%) said they were satisfied with these measures. 44% of the workers said they wanted more measures, including more work through the platform; a number of them reported that PPE was inadequate (just one bottle of sanitiser), of bad quality, or that they received just a one-time payment for one set of PPE (Scarpetta et al. 2020a).

Retail workers faced the brunt of growing demands during lockdown. At the peak of the lockdown in Europe, the only retail outlets allowed to open were grocery stores and supermarkets. Following the death of an employee of Belgian grocery chain Colruyt, labour unions demanded protective equipment and better health and safety standards. According to a report by the US-based United Food and Commercial Workers International Union, during the first 100 days of the pandemic, 82 grocery store workers died of Covid-19 and 11,507 were infected or exposed to the virus. In March, Wanat and Tamma (2020) interviewed workers and labour union representatives in Spain, Poland, Italy and France, finding that, despite promises, employees faced a lack of protective equipment, longer working hours and even, in some cases, unpaid overtime. Over the course of the past six months, plexiglass shields have been installed in most stores and employees have masks and gloves and even staggered shifts in some outlets.

Waste workers have been among the most vulnerable workers during the pandemic. In their study of infection patterns of the virus, Ngheim *et al.* (2020) found that household waste can qualify as clinical waste. With the Covid-19 virus surviving longer on certain materials, sanitation and wastewater workers need better protective gear, gloves and masks among other things. The Global Alliance of Waste Pickers and the Brazil-based Cuidar Project cite epidemiological data showing that waste pickers, who even under normal circumstances face higher health risks, have been subject to even higher risks during the pandemic. However, a report by the European Commission published in April noted that the European Centre for Diseases Prevention and Control had found no evidence that standard waste management procedures or picking of household waste was crucial in the transmission of the disease. They did, however, issue guidelines for worker safety

(adequate PPE etc.) and general advice on how medical waste from infected people should be handled by households¹².

Frontline law enforcement officers. MacIntyre *et al.* (2020) studied how frontline law enforcement officers face a high risk of exposure, especially to invisible bio threats such as the coronavirus. Police officers often respond to situations where physical contact becomes necessary, yet without PPE and proper training for its use, they are equally vulnerable to the virus. Prisons and detainment centres are also high-risk settings due to the close proximity with and among detainees and limited sanitation (Rubin 2020). Figures released by the Belgian federal police showed that, in September and October 2020, nearly 2000 police officers had to self-isolate, with 282 testing positive for Covid-19. Trade unions called for the police to be made part of the priority and preventive testing groups (*The Brussels Times* 2020). In January, following an incident of a man (who had tested positive for Covid-19) spitting on a police officer, the mayor of Belgian city Aalst called for police officers, firefighters and ambulance drivers to be among those prioritised for vaccination (*The Brussels Times* 2021).

3.3 Mines under corona

As of June 2020, approximately 4000 mine workers from 18 countries had been affected by Covid-19 (Leahy 2020). That same month, workers from over 300 mining companies around the world signed a letter of solidarity with communities, indigenous people(s) and workers at risk from 'mining pandemic profiteers'. Citing media sources, press releases and reports on mining in the context of Covid-19, the letter noted that several countries had categorised mining as an essential service while ignoring the substantial risks faced by the workers involved. 'In doing so, they have become key vectors for the spread of coronavirus in their communities," (Mining Watch 2020a). According to a report on 69 mining operations around the world, put together by a group of related organisations, declaring mining to be an essential service has come at the cost of health and safety standards - especially in countries where there is relatively little testing (Mining Watch 2020b). In some cases, workers have carried the infection into smaller communities and indigenous neighbourhoods already at loggerheads with mining operations. In January 2021, 1,391 cases were reported in Poland's coalmining region of Silesia, one of the country's hardest hit regions. In June 2020, the largest outbreak in Silesia was reported among workers in private and state-owned mining companies (Radio Poland 2021). The cases (nearly 6000) accounted for 19.1% of Poland's total infections. Polish Prime Minister Mateusz Morawiecki reportedly stated the virus was prevalent in the mining community due to cramped working conditions (Newman 2020). In Canada, 45 infected workers from a mine in Northern Alberta were traced to the spread of the virus in five Canadian provinces - and, despite an outbreak in an oilsands operation in mid-May, officials insisted that operations must remain open for the economy (Leahy 2020). Around mid-June, the small

^{12.} European Commission ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/waste_management_guidance_dg-env.pdf

Damini Purkayastha, Christophe Vanroelen, Tuba Bircan, Marthe Andrea Vantyghem and Clara Gantelet Adsera

In focus The Czech mining industry and Covid-19

Over the course of 2020, Covid-19 cases continue to grow among coal miners in the Silesia Province in southern Poland and in the neighbouring Moravian-Silesian region, in the North-East of the Czechia. As of 16 June, Czechia had more than 10,000 cases and accounted for 330 deaths. While in proportion the country had more cases per hundred thousand inhabitants than Poland, its death rate was lower than that of its neighbour. The Moravian-Silesian region itself accounted for 1,817 cases, which represented 18% of total cases in a region that holds 11% of the total Czech population. The region, an important coal mining site, had 57 deaths as of 17 June and the Karviná border-district was most affected by the outbreak. Located in Karviná, the Darkov mine, operated by state-owned OKD with 1,800 people working directly there, emerged as a cluster of infection. By mid-May, it had recorded 495 positive cases since the beginning of the pandemic. The number included employees (65%) as well as their family members (32%), which shows the high probability that infected miners will contaminate their own family. As the number kept on rising however, it was decided to stop coal production at the Darko mine on 22 May. At the time, the workers were given 60% of their salary. Due to a lack of gualified miners in Czechia the mine also employs commuters from Poland, out of which at least 22 tested positive. The results raised concerns that contamination was becoming a cross-border issue between Poland and the Czech Republic.

Workers and their families have also had to face contradictory information from the authorities. On 12 June, the Czech Ministry of Health announced that Czechs and foreigners returning from Portugal, Sweden and the Silesian Voivodeship (Province) would have to 'prove themselves with a negative test upon their return'. The previous day, the Health Minister, Adam Vojtěch, stated that while significant clusters were developing, 'we are succeeding in [preventing them from spreading], also thanks to the early warning system, clever quarantine, local area testing and the excellent work of the hygienists and the army'. Similarly, the Regional Hygiene Station of the Moravian-Silesian region ordered on 15 June that all employees of OKD mines must be preventively tested by the end of the month. Just three days before, the same regional authority had declared that, in the Karviná district, 'events for more than 100 people and visits to medical and social facilities' were allowed again and municipal authorities did not have 'to carry out focal disinfection of public spaces' anymore.

According to Rostislav Palicka, president of the Czech Trade Unions of Miners, following a request from the mining unions when the number of cases began to rise in March, OKD put in place personal temperature measurements, banned selling meals in the premises of the mine as well as the soups the miners have before their work shift. The company carried out 'extensive disinfection' of all areas of the mine in June. The other three mines in the region were 'limited only by reducing working hours by one hour and changing the system from four-shift to three-shift so that the shifts do not meet each other'. Nevertheless, for the president of the Czech Trade Unions of Miners, the company is in 'a very difficult financial situation' and there is the 'expectation that these mines will stop their operation before 2030'. In his opinion, in these circumstances, 'trade unions or workers cannot do a lot for prevention of such before unknown and specific hazard'.

Source: www.etui.org/news/covid-19-rising-cases-czech-mines ECDC, Moravian-Silesian Region administration, Czech Ministry of Health, Deník Swedish town of Gallivare became a Covid-19 hotspot, with the highest number of infections in Sweden. Local health authorities traced the infections back to the local mine operated by LKAB (Nilsen 2020).

Mining communities already face particularly difficult working conditions, as reflected by the higher incidence of respiratory problems reported among them. In a study on the medical needs of mining communities in the US, Sood et al. (2020) pointed out that miners faced a number of pre-existing disparities with access to care – especially given their high incidence of pulmonary cases. Care of these conditions was also being delayed due to the pandemic. Looking at Canada, Bernauer and Slowey (2020) wrote that 'Covid-19 has significantly changed the discussion about extractive industries and public health, as transient workers are potential vectors through which the novel corona virus could be spread to remote communities. The industry response to the pandemic has thus far been uneven. While the province of Quebec has ordered mines to shut down to help halt the spread of the disease, other countries have categorised mines and other extractive industries as "essential services", even allowing lower health and security standards.' Gleason (2020) analysed a NIOSH survey of 115 mining workers in the US on their fears, apprehensions and awareness around the pandemic, finding that the fear factor was very high: 50% of the respondents were worried about being infected, while 77% felt confident about their own precautions. In September, the CEO of the International Council on Mining and Metals noted that vital protocols and health measures were in place, including testing, reduced shift sizes, temperature screening and social distancing in 50 countries. These measures were in keeping with 'national and local guidance' and that the sector was 'building back better'.13

3.4 Meat-processing plants

The food industry is a risk to life, especially for vulnerable workers and households, argue Alkon *et al.* (2020). From supermarket employees, via meat packaging and processing workers, to farm employees, workers throughout the food chain are far more exposed to the disease – and perhaps none more so than those working in meat processing plants. The US-based United Food and Commercial Workers International Union noted that in the first 100 days of the pandemic 65 meat packaging workers had died and that 14,214 workers were infected or exposed in the US (UFCW 2020). The union also pointed out that, even during the pandemic, government bodies were still approving waivers allowing plants to increase their line speeds, putting workers closer together and thus increasing the risk of infection. Similar outbreaks were seen in meat processing plants across the European Union, especially in Germany (see Case Study II). Over the course of 2020, several plants in the Netherlands and France were also shut down when infection clusters were reported in poultry and beef processing plants.

https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/09/how-has-the-mining-industry-responded-tocovid-19/

In focus Slaughterhouses in Germany and subsequent policy changes

In June 2020, more than 1,500 workers at the Tönnies meat packaging plant in Gütersloh in North Rhine Westphalia (Germany) tested positive for Covid-19. Following this outbreak, some 600,000 people in the region were forced back into lockdown for several weeks. Workers in other meat processing plants also tested positive, with officials citing cramped staff housing as one of the key causes of the outbreak (Huet 2020). Scientists have also called out the poor ventilation systems in these workplaces, with the same air being recycled over and over again (Lee 2020).

The incident brought to light the plight of meat processing workers in Germany, many of whom are migrant workers from Bulgaria, Poland and Romania. They live in cramped housing conditions and are transported to work in crowded vehicles. In June, the BBC reported that 2,000 employees who lived in a village in Verl were fenced off from the world and quarantined, while local volunteers brought them food (Lee 2020). Euronews reported that a German official involved in the response measures called poverty the 'root of the problem' (Huet 2020). Many of these workers are employed through subcontractors so they can be paid low wages, have no sick leave and no job security. Wagner and Hassell (2016) studied how, despite otherwise strong social institutions, Germany has established conditions sustaining the systemic exploitation of mobile and migrant labour in the meat industry.

Following the outbreak, health authorities reportedly accused the plant of not complying with safety regulations, while politicians called for the company to be held accountable (Connolly 2020). In light of the cases and ensuing arguments however, the German government has moved to take action to improve OSH standards in the meat processing industry. At a press conference in July, German Labour Minister Hubertus Heil announced stricter measures to ensure the well-being of migrant workers (Grull 2020). From 2021 onwards, employers will no longer be able to resort to subcontractors, instead having to employ workers directly and thus also offering them better pay and social security. New standards for employee housing will also be put in place, including regular inspections to ensure that they are met. Working hours will also be recorded to ensure that workers are paid properly (Grull 2020).

Middleton, Reintjes and Lopes (2020) note that 'while the pandemic continues, meat processing plants will remain potential trigger points for a second wave'. In August, further outbreaks were reported in Belgium and Spain. 'Slaughterhouses and meat processing plants are favourable environments for SARS-CoV-2 transmission', write Middleton, Reintjes and Lopes (2020). Lower temperatures and higher humidity make it easy for the virus to thrive. Metal surfaces, dense aerosols, intense water use, speaking loudly (thus releasing more droplets), overcrowded workplaces and lack of social distancing were also key factors (Middleton, Reintjes and Lopes 2020: 1). In a report for the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, Waltenburg *et al.* (2020) analysed infection outbreaks in 115 meat and poultry processing facilities in the US, finding that 16,233 workers in meat and poultry processing facilities in the US were infected with Covid-19 in April and May alone.

'Distinctive factors that increase meat and poultry processing workers' risk for exposure to SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes Covid-19, include prolonged close workplace contact with coworkers (within 6 feet for \geq 15 minutes) for long time periods (8–12 hour shifts), shared workspaces, shared transportation to and from the workplace, congregate housing, and frequent community contact with fellow workers' (Waltenburg *et al.* 2020: 887).

Factors related to employment conditions were further causes of the high number of cases in these plants. Across Europe, a large percentage of workers employed in slaughterhouses are migrant workers on subcontracts and other precarious employment arrangements, often lacking sick leave and social benefits. In Ireland, the meat industry has claimed that 20% of its workforce is made up of migrant workers, while the European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Tourism Trade Unions (EFFAT) estimates that 80% of workers in Germany's meat processing plants are Eastern European migrants. The UK-based Migrants Rights Centre estimates the percentage in the UK to be 58%. According to a survey conducted by the Centre among 68 workers, 90% said they had no sick leave and 40% they did not feel safe at work despite the measures taken. Contrary to self-isolating advice on noting symptoms, several plants even offered large bonuses to employees to keep working during the pandemic (Kinniburg 2020).

Recommendations for meat processing plants include guaranteed access to sick leave, risk assessments, staggered shifts, Plexiglas shields between workers, outdoor breaks, reduced processing rates, regular screening, face masks, regular disinfection – and, most significantly, information made accessible in multiple languages, through multiple platforms and in culturally appropriate ways (Middleton, Reintjes and Lopes 2020; Waltenburg *et al.* 2020). As seen in the next case study on the spread of the virus in German meat processing plants, corrective measures were still an urgent matter in the summer of 2020. EFFAT is also calling for decent housing conditions and the regularisation of undocumented workers (EFFAT 2020).

3.5 Agricultural labour and disease exposure

In a study on jobs that can be done from home without a drop in productivity, Dingel and Neiman (2020) list the following as the bottom five occupations: transportation and warehousing; construction; retail; agriculture, forestry, fishing, hunting; accommodation and food services. As the harvest season coincided with the lockdown, a number of countries, including Germany, France and Italy, drafted agreements and arranged special flights to ensure the availability of migrant labourers on farms. Though such arrangements are not new, several relaxations were made to existing exemptions with regard to minimum wages, social security and occupational health and safety measures. Neef (2020) analysed government policies and outbreaks on farms, noting that the workers flown in during the first lockdowns benefited from no safety measures or health benefits, and often lived in substandard, cramped conditions. Interviews with farm workers and union leaders revealed that employees were not given adequate information regarding the virus and were even instructed not to tell their colleagues if they tested positive for the virus (Ho 2020).

In August, hundreds of migrant farm workers across Spain protested against their living and working conditions following a major outbreak. 400+ workers in the Castilla La Mancha region were forced into quarantine in an abandoned factory after 23 workers tested positive. These workers, primarily from West Africa, lived in collective housing without adequate sleeping and washing facilities, while working conditions in the factory were deplorable and hot and water supplies limited (Summers 2020; JML 2020). In the last week of July, a cucumber farm in Bavaria, Germany, went into lockdown after 174 workers tested positive for the virus and 500 were put in quarantine. District authorities reported that many of the workers were from Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria and Ukraine, and worked in close physical proximity. According to news reports, employers had not complied with health and safety guidelines (AFP 2020). Similar cases were reported in Italy, France and Belgium, all of which have a significant number of migrant workers – both temporary and often undocumented.

In a 2019 report on the exploitation of migrant workers in the EU, the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (EU FRA) highlighted a series of illegal practices in sectors such as agriculture, construction, domestic work, hospitality, manufacturing and transport. These practices (e.g. long working hours, low pay, sub-optimal safety standards and equipment, deplorable housing without access to sanitation, sexual harassment) left migrant workers far more vulnerable than other groups of workers (FRA 2019).

In April, the European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Tourism Trade Unions (EFFAT) issued a joint statement with a number of organisations including Oxfam, Fair Trade Advocacy Office and the European Public Health Alliance:

"The agricultural sector is the most affected by workplace accidents and illness. It is blighted by extremely low wages, a high proportion of undeclared work and poor working conditions. Workers often fall prey to exploitation, including gang-master practices and other forms of modern slavery. Thousands of migrant farm workers – both EU and third country nationals - live in shacks and unsanitary settlements where observing physical distancing is impossible and the pandemic could have devastating effects. In the fields and in many food processing plants, labourers toil in close proximity, with no protective equipment.' (EFFAT 2020)

The report argues that maintaining low food prices is one of the main reasons for maintaining exploitative labour systems. Similar conditions were reported by numerous farms across North America which also rely heavily on migrant labour (Haley *et al.* 2020). As in Europe, employer-assisted residence permits and temporary status also play an important role, as workers have no freedom and fear reporting in case they are deported. They are even afraid to visit healthcare facilities (Neef 2020; Caxaj and Plamondon 2020).

While several countries have publicly acknowledged the plight of migrant workers, especially during the pandemic, it remains to be seen what measures will actually be implemented. Watterson (2020) noted that there were huge gaps between

what scientists and trade unions recommended early in the outbreak and what politicians actually implemented.

In focus Migrant farm workers in Italy's Calabria region

According to a 2019 report published by the EU FRA, 'there are between 400,000 and 430,000 migrant workers employed through illegal intermediaries (*caporali*) and at risk of labour exploitation' in the agricultural industry in Italy (FRA 2020: 38). In 2016, legislation was introduced to eradicate this phenomenon, but a high number of instances have continued. In March, a report by *Al Jazeera* found that African crop pickers in the Calabria region (the Gioia Tauro plain) were housed in shanty towns, living in temporary shacks made of cardboard, wood and scrap metal (Oddone 2020). Workers either had makeshift toilets or had to use fields; no water and electricity were available. The largest shanty town had been recently equipped with water and electricity, but it was still cramped and impossible to maintain social distancing (Oddone 2020).

In October, there were protests from workers in a camp in San Ferdinando in the Calabria region, as the camp was placed under quarantine after 14 workers tested positive. All the workers were locked in, unemployed and not given any protective equipment. Over the course of the pandemic, several migrant worker camps were declared red zones, even though just a few workers from the camp had tested positive for Covid-19. Protestors complained that infected workers should have been isolated instead of issuing a blanket ban. According to news reports, the blanket bans were issued in part because of a lack of space, with bathrooms especially shared among inhabitants and no real isolation maintainable in these camps.

Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) found that at least 1,500 migrant workers lived in hazardous conditions during the pandemic, particularly in the regions of Rosarno, San Ferdinando and Rizziconi. Abandoned factories and makeshift homes, little access to healthcare and a lack of basic hygiene went hand in hand with labour exploitation and violence. 'The bare minimum one would expect from a country like Italy', said Antonio Virgilio, MSF Head of Mission Calabria, 'is respect of the basic international reception standards. According to the United Nations, in a displacement camp there must be at least one toilet for every 20 people. Not even this basic standard is being complied with in the places we' ve seen in Calabria – for a population of fundamental importance to the local agricultural economies' (MSF 2020). In their study of farm workers in Canada who live in similar conditions, Caxaj and Cohen (2020) argue that government guidelines are a gamble with migrant lives, that federal standards set for employers are so limited that housing conditions are often deplorable, allowing infections to easily spread rapidly.

Furthermore, as the workers in quarantined camps had no income, no social security and faced punitive action from the local government if they broke quarantine rules, there was also higher chance that workers would not report sick even if they had Covid-19 symptoms (Camilli 2020).

4. Occupational inequalities as clinical variables

The impact of Covid-19 has not been uniform. The cases presented in the previous section highlight how the conditions and circumstances of work and employment – and the related potential gaps in occupational health and safety measures – impact the spread of Covid-19. There are two aspects to this: (1) certain occupations are at greater risk through needing to be operational at the peak of the pandemic and (2) some occupations are high-risk due to the work environment and related employment and socioeconomic conditions. The two factors often overlap. To a certain degree, these occupational factors also determine the levels of exposure, infection and related consequences, which are further exacerbated due to class, race, migration status and socioeconomic position (Yancy 2020; McClure *et al.* 2020; Patel 2020). This is particularly the case for 'key workers' employed in jobs with high-risk physical settings and very low levels of social protection.

This section delineates the three distinct but intersectional factors emerging from our analysis: working conditions, employment conditions and workers' sociodemographic characteristics. We start by looking at physical working conditions, as these play a significant role in work-related exposure: Face-to-face interaction with other people, enclosed spaces, a lack of ventilation and/or sanitation at work are some such factors.

The second subsection assesses how workers in sectors most exposed to these settings are also more likely to face other vulnerabilities (such as precarious employment conditions and other socio-economic determinants). Structural inequalities in employment rights also create an environment where the spread of infection is difficult to control.

Workers' sociodemographic characteristics come under the spotlight in the third subsection, in which we study how a low socioeconomic status, gender, migration background and ethnicity intersect with work and employment to become determinants of workers' health and wellbeing. Occupational status and the interlinked structural vulnerabilities faced by these workers force them to choose between health and earning a livelihood.



Figure 2 A visualisation of three intersectional aspects of OSH

Source: authors' elaboration.

4.1 Working conditions: physical settings leading to higher exposure to Covid-19

In the early stages of the pandemic, occupational safety measures were based on certain established protocols. The EU-OSHA issued 'back to work' guidelines based on the hierarchy of controls – a set of guidelines on controlling the spread of the disease at work (see Annex 2). These included physical distancing among workers, ensuring that essential staff had only limited physical contacts with customers. Belingheri, Paladino and Riva (2020) suggested the following guidelines for non-healthcare settings: provide information and education about Covid-19, self-isolate when showing symptoms, wash or sanitise hands, practice social distancing, clean surfaces, ventilate workplaces, make informed use of PPE.

To explore why certain occupations are more at risk, we use these guidelines as our starting point, analysing why different measures are challenging to implement (or are not sufficiently enforced) in certain occupations.

Information gaps

From the start of the pandemic, workers were at the mercy of national guidelines and employers when it came to gaining information on safety standards. Initially downplaying the virus, countries across Europe went into varying degrees of lockdown off and on throughout 2020. Specific measures such as wearing a facemask became a matter of debate, with some governments (including Belgium, the Netherlands and Germany) initially refusing to make wearing masks in public mandatory, leading to further confusion (Paun *et al.* 2020). Besides conflicting messages, most organisations and countries also failed to reach out to different demographic groups. Migrant workers in various sectors (e.g. domestic services, agriculture and industry) did not receive adequate information in their own language (Dyal *et al.* 2020; Liem *et al.* 2020). The lack of information given to workers in their own languages was cited as one of the main reasons for the outbreak at a meat processing plant in the US (Siemaszko 2020). An article by the Migration Policy Institute on the plight of migrant workers in the EU during the Covid-19 crisis also noted that 'workers who do not speak the language of the destination country have little information about their rights and the legal recourse available to them' (Andriescu 2020).

Self-isolation

The discussion around staying home when sick has many dimensions – from the feasibility of working from home to the availability of paid sick leave and being able to self-isolate when sick.

Working from home is increasingly understood as a privilege (Yancy 2020) available only to a few. Employees able to work from home automatically have the option to maintain social distancing and to self-isolate when infected or exposed to a high-risk contact. For all others, as we saw in the case studies, it often boils down to a choice between continued employment and health risks. Some workers were even incentivised to continue working when sick rather than being granted paid sick leave – making it a tough choice for workers in low socioeconomic circumstances.

Basic hygiene measures

Emphasis should be placed on controlling the spread of the disease through physical and administrative measures (Rosemberg 2020). However, we see that their implementation is complicated in several occupations, including assembly line production and factories. Ray (2020) points out that washing hands is in itself a problem, as 26% of the world's population (including the Global North) have no (or only limited and often expensive) access to soap and water. Farm workers often have no access to adequate field sanitation, let alone an opportunity to regularly wash their hands (Haley and Caxaj 2020). As seen in the case studies from Italy and Germany, migrant labourers living in camps face similar conditions. Rubin (2020) points out that inmates and workers in correctional facilities face a higher risk of infection as access to soap is sometimes also restricted.

Social distancing

A similar challenge arises when it comes to maintaining physical distance of over a metre. Bavel *et al.* (2020) note that certain groups of people may lack the space necessary for this, as in prisons, refugee camps, immigrant detention centres. Similar conditions affect those who rely on public transport and/or work in lowwage jobs where remote work is not possible. In factories featuring production line work, distancing can mean a loss of profits. Workers in meat processing plants report that physical distancing at work is difficult, while studies indicate that long shifts and shared workspaces make exposure to Covid-19 much more likely (Dyal *et al.* 2020; Stephenson 2020). A lot of occupations, especially those involving large workforces, do not have multiple cafeterias or breakrooms, meaning that workers gather together in groups, often not complying with lockdown measures.

Workplace hygiene measures

Regular cleaning and disinfection of workspaces and shared spaces are also a challenge, especially if they result in a drop in productivity. While the WHO has suggested that workers such as delivery workers should be given access to washrooms and changing facilities throughout the day, several occupations do not have the infrastructure needed for this. Studies also indicate that cold and humid conditions, for instance in meat packaging and processing plants, present ideal conditions for the virus to survive (Middleton, Reintjes and Lopes 2020), especially when regular disinfection is not possible. Rosemberg (2020) notes that hotel cleaners, especially housekeepers, belong to the most vulnerable hotel staff as they are exposed to infection while cleaning. Sanitation workers and waste collection workers are also vulnerable, as the virus can stay infectious for a long time on different household waste surfaces (Ngheim *et al.* 2020).

Access to protective equipment

Most countries in Europe reported a shortage of face masks and medical-grade protective equipment even for healthcare workers in the weeks immediate after the first outbreak (Section 2.1). In a study on the healthcare response in Italy, Sorbello *et al.* (2020) noted that a number of frontline medical staff were infected or exposed due to shortages of PPE. According to Eurofound's Covid-19 e-survey, 44% of respondents from the EU27 'believe they are more at risk of contracting Covid-19 because of their job' (Eurofound 2020: 42). The perceived risk was higher for workers in occupations with regular physical contact. One of the key factors regarding perceived risk was the availability of PPE. In this, a clear sectorwise difference was noted. When asked if they were required to wear PPE, only 24% of workers in construction but 78% in healthcare said yes. Nearly three out of 10 workers required to wear PPE stated that their employer provided them with PPE sometimes or not at all (ibid: 43).

4.2 Employment conditions: precarious contracts and lack of employee participation

In this section, we explore how the physical working conditions discussed above intersect with other structural factors, making it difficult for workers to prioritise health or lobby for better safety measures. We also see how pandemic containment policies can work against occupational safety norms, creating an environment where basic measures are flouted even during the pandemic. These measures are a matter of privilege for a large section of the workforce. As Yancy (2020) writes:

'Being able to maintain social distancing while working from home, telecommuting, and accepting a furlough from work but indulging in the plethora of virtual social events are issues of *privilege*. In certain communities these privileges are simply not accessible. Thus, consider the aggregate of a higher burden of at-risk comorbidities, the pernicious effects of adverse social determinants of health, and the absence of privilege that

does not allow a reprieve from work without dire consequences for a person's sustenance, does not allow safe practices, and does not even allow for 6-foot distancing' (Yancy 2020: 1892).

The pandemic has uncovered these unequal conditions. Across Europe, nurses and healthcare workers reported being underpaid, often on short-term contracts, and confronted with understaffing. While delivery services boomed businesswise, delivery workers were mostly gig/platform workers with no job security and inadequate health support (Braun, Kayali and Tamma 2020; Duke 2020a; Eurofound 2020). Such patterns of inequalities play a significant role in a health crisis, as they determine who is at greater risk of becoming infected and also who will have access to healthcare and mitigating circumstances (Bavel *et al.* 2020; Khalatbari-Soltani *et al.* 2020). Analysing case studies of Covid-19 victims, Khalatbari-Soltani *et al.* (2020) point out that 'people with disadvantageous socioeconomic positions should be considered as high-risk populations at the time of any infectious disease outbreak, since their social context could affect the occurrence and severity of an infectious disease via several pathways' (2020: 620). This kind of 'social patterning of health' (ibid) is marked by individual indicators of occupation, income and education.

In the following subsection, we start by examining income levels and the nature of employment in the sectors most impacted in terms of worker health. We then go on to consider the pandemic-specific implications of these factors, i.e., lack of sick leave, presenteeism, infection clusters.

Lower income levels

Occupations demanding physical presence and interaction often involve low-wage jobs (Lu 2020). Moreover, as the cases discussed earlier indicate, there is a clear link between low-skill / low-wage jobs and higher Covid-19 mortality rates (Wise 2020; Khalatbari-Soltani et al. 2020; Windsor-Shellard and Kaur 2020). Barring doctors, the majority of workers in essential sectors earn less than the national average in their various countries. Analysing 'worker distress' in times of Covid-19 among workers in 52 districts of California, using Census data and Central Population Data, Flores and Padilla (2020) found 'a strong relationship between low-wage work and Covid-19 positivity'. The highest worker distress was recorded in sectors such as agriculture, waste management, warehousing and retail, sectors where most workers in the US are not entitled to emergency paid leave (Flores and Padilla 2020). These findings concur with the sectors most impacted in the EU. This is no coincidence. As we have seen in the case studies, there is a 'coronavirus class divide' (Williams 2020). The jobs with the highest number of deaths are performed by the economically least advantaged - those with the lowest pay, least paid sick leave and insecure contracts. Low-skilled work is often accompanied by precarious contracts and/or hourly/daily wages (Williams 2020). Colon (2020) writes that those working in supermarkets, in conditions where 'their safety is not prioritised', earn 25% less than median earnings. '44% of workers in this sector [in Ireland] are low-paid and, like many private sector workers, are unlikely to be receive sick pay as there is no statutory requirement to do so' (Colon 2020: 46). Many of these factors are determined by national policies. In Ireland, for instance,

sick leave is a 'perk' left to the discretion of employers to include in contracts, i.e. it is not a legally guaranteed right (Bambrick 2020).

Even in the case of skilled workers, such as nurses and caregivers, there is a high incidence of short-term or precarious contracts in many EU countries. 'The Covid-19 crisis has underscored the societal danger of zero-hour contracts, highlighting why a minimum income guarantee is required,' writes Duke (2020).

The most straightforward outcome of this is that workers without paid sick leave and on precarious contracts have no choice but to continue working, regardless of the conditions at work and regardless of their own medical condition: 'There are also complex societal issues around workers who are ill but feel that they have to work for economic or other reasons and thereby increase the risks for colleagues and the public' (Semple and Cherrie 2020: 462).

Job insecurity and the lack of social protection

In a survey conducted in March 2020 among workers in the UK (3,974 people) and US (4,003 people), Adams-Prassl *et al.* (2020) found that the impact of the situation was severe on young workers and those in precarious employment such as individuals working in the gig economy. 'Pressure on people in these segments of society is leveraged by their fear about not being able to cover their bills. The pressure is so high that many report going to work with flu-like symptoms, which poses a health risk to all. We find that this behaviour is particularly likely for those without paid sick leave,' (ibid). De Wispelaere and Gillis (2021) argue that Covid-19 has exposed a clear link between undeclared work and OSH: the 'failure to respect OSH rules and regulations is to be considered an essential part of the concept of undeclared work' (2021: 5).

An analysis of paid sick-leave policies in 192 countries found that 27% of the countries did not guarantee paid sick leave, though numbers were higher for permanent workers (Heymann et al. 2020). 58% of the countries had no explicit provisions for the self-employed and gig economy workers. This is also frequently the case in high-income countries. The authors also highlighted studies showing how workers without paid sick leave are 1.5 times more likely to go to work sick and are less likely to see a doctor. This is particularly problematic in the case of Covid-19, as paid sick leave is an effective way to curb the spread of the disease to co-workers, customers, clients and so on (Heymann et al. 2020). 'When workers lack paid sick leave, they often need to make untenable choices between going to work sick and being able to afford the basic necessities for themselves and their families' (Heymann et al. 2020: 925). Berger et al. (2020) argue that healthcare institutions should set an example for all other sectors by guaranteeing paid sick leave for all employees, while governments should reimburse sick leave expenses for key healthcare workers and have related programmes for casual, small business and gig economy workforces (2020: 1). Another problem that arises is that hazardous work is often incentivised through extra pay or benefits. In the case studies discussed above, we note how employers offered bonuses to workers who showed up to work regardless of conditions. Despite mandatory self-isolation when sick, workers continued to be present, either out of fear of losing work or because their sector was understaffed. In October 2020, 10 hospitals in Belgium

reportedly asked medical staff to continue working even if they had Covid-19 (and were asymptomatic) as a quarter of medical staff were off sick (BBC 2020).

Self-employed workers are likely to face a lot more complications during the pandemic. As per Eurostat data (2018), self-employed workers comprise 14% of the EU labour force, and a large percentage of them work in sectors most affected by the lockdown measures. In most EU countries, self-employed workers received much less compensation for loss of income during the pandemic than employed workers. Even in countries where they have access to these programmes, compensation is lower. Duke (2020b) notes that self-employed people, especially those in the gig economy with one or just a few customers, do not qualify for sick pay, even if they are forced to self-isolate. Douglas et al. (2020) also point out that that self-employed and precarious workers who now face economic hardship will be even less able to afford care for existing conditions other than Covid-19. Anderson (2020) notes that in eight EU countries, including Belgium, France and Italy, self-employed workers are 'excluded from certain social insurance programmes such as paid sick leave, unemployment and/or occupational injury'. Though some schemes were eventually rolled out for self-employed workers, Duke (2020b) points out that they were at the 'end of the queue'.

Lack of bargaining power

A common factor that emerges when analysing the most at-risk situations and occupational groups is the lack of bargaining power of the workers involved. Low bargaining power might relate to several employment-related and external conditions: e.g. inherent instability of the employment situation, having low skills or low legal employment protection, high rates of unemployment, lack of alternatives for employment (i.e. social protection) or a 'precarious' residence status (Quinlan et al. 2020; Benach et al. 2020). In the study on the impact on workers in France, Counil and Khlat (2020) found that low-wage groups were the most exposed at work, with a large percentage lacking protective equipment. This is aggravated by their lower bargaining power due to their economic position and lack of job protection (Counil and Khlat 2020). Workers in factories, farms and retail continued to work despite hazardous conditions because they needed the income and could not afford to be dismissed. Findings indicate that the matter is further compounded in the case of migrant labour or temporary workers. A report on female migrant domestic workers in the EU found that they were afraid of deportation or of losing their residence permit and therefore did not report aggravated circumstances (Foley and Piper 2020). A similar situation was reported among farm workers in Canada and the US who are in the country to work with specific employers and can be deported if sick (Haley et al. 2020).

Trade unions have played a significant role in demanding better safety and security for workers during the pandemic. A study among nursing homes in the US found that unionized homes had 30% lower Covid-19 mortality rates and greater access to protective equipment (Dean *et al.* 2020). A report by the US-based Economic Policy Institute also found that, during the pandemic, unionized workers were able to 'secure enhanced safety measures, additional premium pay, paid sick time and a say in the terms of furloughs or work-share arrangements to save jobs' (McNicholas *et al.* 2020). The open letter from EU trade union organisations to the EU Commissioner for

Jobs and Social Rights also demanded that workers from all ranks be involved in the decision-making processes regarding Covid-19-specific policies in their companies¹⁴. The letter stated that, instead of empowering workers during the pandemic, labour regulations, already weakened in recent years, had been further ignored. In December, the European Commission undertook to draw up a new EU Occupational Safety and Health strategy following pressure from trade unions. The ETUC reports that one of its key elements will be that 'workers have the right to withdraw their labour in case employers do not take the necessary measures to protect them'¹⁵.

4.3 Sociodemographic variables: migration, ethnicity and gender as exacerbating factors

The virus does not discriminate, but systems do, analysts warned early in the pandemic (Yancy 2020; Koh and Goh 2020). This has been borne out by the cases that have emerged since. There is a clear intersectional gradient with regard to occupational health and safety, as occupations linked with higher rates of exposure and fatalities also have a higher representation of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities, migrants and/or women (Windsor-Shellard and Butt 2020; Foley and Piper 2020; Neef 2020; Hattenstone 2020). In this section, we examine the existing employment inequities and why factors such as race, ethnic background, migration status and gender have become determinants of the degree of exposure and outcome of the disease.

Migrant labour and policies that sustain precariousness

Migrant workers make up a large share of the working population in the EU (estimated at 13%) (Fasani and Mazza 2020). In some jobs, such as cleaners, helpers and labourers in mining and construction, 1/3 of the workforce are foreign born (Fasani and Mazza 2020). Over a million seasonal workers are hired in the EU every year. According to the European Parliament, they work 'mainly in the agri-food sector: 370,000 in Italy, 300,000 in Germany, 276,000 in France and 150,000 in Spain.'¹⁶

At the peak of the first lockdown, to ensure that workers were available for the harvest season and processing plants, seasonal workers were included in 'new guidelines to ensure free movement of critical workers'¹⁷. Cheap labour from

^{14.} Participating trade unions were: European Trade Union Confederation (ETUC), IndustriAll, UNI-Europa, the European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Tourist Trade Unions (EFFAT), the European Federation of Public Service Unions EPSU), the European Training Foundation (ETF) and the European Federation of Building and Woodworkers (EFBWW). The letter was sent in May 2020. https://bit.ly/2Oe6f60

^{15.} https://www.epsu.org/article/etuc-eu-occupational-safety-and-health-strategy-light-covid-19

^{16.} Members of the European Parliament demanded urgent action in order to protect migrant workers during the pandemic. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/pressroom/20200615IPR81233/bold-measures-needed-to-protect-cross-border-and-seasonalworkers-meps-say

^{17.} European Commission news on 30 March 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/info/news/ coronavirus-seasonal-workers-included-new-guidelines-ensure-free-movement-criticalworkers-2020-marzo-30_en

Bulgaria, Poland and Romania was flown into Western Europe; in Canada and the US, similar exceptions were made to ensure that migrant labour from Latin America, Mexico and the Caribbean was available (Charles 2020; Pazzano 2020).

In the EU, a large number of these workers work for subcontractors, are flown in on temporary contracts and have limited rights to social security and healthcare, and, often, no paid sick leave. In an analysis of how seasonal labour was flown in around the world, Neef (2020) wrote that, even though they came from Covid-19 hotspots, some of the first hundred Romanian workers flown to Germany in March to work on farms underwent only cursory health checks upon arrival. 'Despite stringent government regulations, many migrant farm workers live in crowded conditions—such as repurposed shipping containers or shacks in communal housing camps—where physical distancing and adhering to proper sanitary regimes is near impossible. Several workers tested positive for Covid-19, and one Romanian worker died from the virus in his residential container in mid-April 2020,' (Neef 2020: 642). Similar intersections have been detailed in previous sections, where migrant labour is left highly vulnerable to Covid-19 and penalties from employers.

Studies on migration policies focusing on low-skilled (temporary and seasonal) migrant workers show that they face far more precarious circumstances and a lot more restrictions (Ruhs 2013). According to an investigative news report in July by EuroNews on migrant workers on farms across Europe, workers often have no access to healthcare, live in cramped, sometimes temporary spaces, work long unpaid hours and have little access to water (Borges and Huet 2020). Though there is a common EU agricultural policy, the working conditions of farm workers are not prioritised in the policy (Borges and Huet 2020). Mares (2020), who has conducted ethnographic research among immigrant workers on dairy farms, writes: 'Perhaps a better classification for these essential workers in the food systems during these harrowing times is 'sacrificial' (2020: 585).

As a number of workers work for subcontractors, they do not come under the national government's rules regarding health insurance, minimum wages, paid sick leave or even workers' rights. While this lowers the cost of labour considerably, the fallout for the workers is immense. Without access to these mechanisms, migrant workers are dependent on employers to ensure that health and safety standards are met and have no option but to continue working even if when this is not the case.

As mentioned earlier, not having access to health and safety information in a language that foreign workers can understand causes key information gaps (Dyal *et al.* 2020; Liem *et al.* 2020). The European Parliament has called for urgent changes to the laws pertaining to temporary migrant labour and demanded that employers do more for their social security (Box 2-3.). Following the increasing outbreaks of Covid-19 in meat processing plants and the outcry over the working conditions of employees, a number of governments have made significant policy changes. In Germany, as mentioned earlier, subcontracting has been outlawed specifically in the meat processing industry from 2021 onwards, while France has also announced similar changes.

While it is difficult to estimate the number of irregular foreigners or undocumented workers in the EU, studies estimate that 70% of these foreigners have some form of employment (Boswell and Staubhaar 2004). According to estimates by the European Commission (2009), in 2007 there were between 4.5 million and 8 million irregular migrants in Europe, with an estimated increase of 350,000 to 500,000 per year (EC 2009: 7). A large number of these migrants work in agriculture, food processing, construction and in hotels, cleaning, domestic services and restaurants. Bhopal (2020a, 2020b) points out that undocumented workers and refugees are especially vulnerable because they have no trust in the authorities, are afraid of deportation, are not the target of any communication campaigns and cannot afford measures such as social distancing. In an open letter, (the) European Public Health Association's Migrant and Ethnic Health Section stated that no one should be excluded from healthcare information and protection services (Bhopal 2020a) and called for the temporary suspension of any policies possibly excluding minorities from accessing ongoing protective measures (Bhopal 2020b). Undocumented workers, while essential to several sectors, are invisible to most welfare policies and at the mercy of their employers. Faced with the real threat of joblessness, they do not complain about their work circumstances (Calderone, Abel and Rosenbaum 2020). Several EU countries have allowed temporary and undocumented migrant workers residence rights for the duration of the pandemic.

Migrants, who may move legally but are in irregular employment (e.g. intra-European migrants who work under precarious employment conditions), are

Box 2 Excerpts from the European Parliament resolution on protecting seasonal workers

The COVID-19-crisis has further exposed and exacerbated social dumping and the existing precariousness of the situations of many mobile workers employed in the EU's agri-food, construction and healthcare sectors.

In a resolution adopted on Friday, Parliament urges the Commission to assess the employment, health and safety conditions of cross-border and seasonal workers, including the role of intermediary agencies and subcontracting firms, to identify shortcomings in EU and national legislation and, possibly, revise the existing EU laws. The text also calls for a swift and balanced agreement on the coordination of social security systems that is needed to combat social fraud and the abuse of mobile workers' rights.

Urgent measures needed to protect seasonal and cross-border workers

MEPs urge the Commission to issue new, specific guidelines for cross-border and seasonal workers in the context of COVID-19, to propose long-term solutions to deal with abusive subcontracting practices and to ensure that the European Labour Authority (ELA) becomes fully operational as a matter of priority. Member states must increase the capacity of labour inspectorates and ensure quality housing, which should be decoupled from their remuneration, says the text.

often overlooked in discussions around safety, better working conditions and empowerment. Munck, Schierup and Delgado Wise (2012) argue that the current labour market is producing increasingly fragmented employment trajectories blurring the boundaries between formal and informal work arrangements. Work is regulated at EU and national levels and covers a broad range of contract types. Temporary work agencies are usually engaged in recruiting seasonal and care workers from Eastern Europe. According to Eurostat, agency work accounts for a high share of the temporary employment market; in 2019, the EU average share of temporary employees is higher (almost 14%) for intra-EU migrants. Certainly during times of crisis, like the Covid-19 pandemic, temporary agency work can lead to heightened precariousness in the labour market.

Minority ethnic communities

Minority ethnic communities in EU countries have seen a high number of Covid-19 infections and deaths since the start of the pandemic. The occupational conditions of these communities could play a significant role here, as ethnic minorities are overrepresented in low-skilled and low-wage occupations, as well as in a number of key/essential occupations. As a consequence, they face similar working and employment conditions to those discussed earlier. They live in low-income neighbourhoods and have less access to affordable care measures. Khalatbari-Soltani *et al.* (2020) point out that socioeconomic positions (SEPs) are closely linked with levels of education and income, and that 'Covid-19 is likely to follow similar patterns of distribution in terms of SEPs.'

As the number of cases recorded among minority communities in France grew, the French government decided to investigate the underlying causes. In June, the country changed its long-standing rule on not collecting data on ethnicity and allowed the INSEE (the National Institute of Statistics and Economic Studies) to examine data on the country of origin of those tested positive for the virus. The INSEE report found that people with a migrant background were affected twice as often by Covid-19. They also noted that ethnicities concentrated in densely populated areas were affected much more (Papon and Robert-Bobée 2020), as illustrated by the large number of deaths (+120% compared to 2019) in the Seine St. Denis district.

Given a similar outcome in the UK, the public health services called for the development of 'culturally competent occupational risk assessment tools' to reduce risks, especially for key workers (cited in Iacobucci 2020). Such tools would take into consideration the broad spectrum of cultural and ethnic backgrounds in the labour force. The report further acknowledges that the specific conditions of racism and discrimination faced by BAME key workers could be a significant factor in the high rates of Covid-19 infection.

According to data released by the Swedish Public Office, people of Turkish origin had the highest rates of infection, followed by those from Ethiopia, Somalia, Chile and Iraq respectively (Folkhalsomyndigheten 2020a). In March, hospitals in Limburg (Belgium) reported disproportionately higher numbers of patients of Turkish origin (Bourgrea and De Bouw 2020), while similar figures were reported in a study conducted in the Netherlands (Nieuwenhuis 2020). According to these reports, intersections between occupations and poor housing conditions are exacerbating factors. Workers from minority communities also constitute a significant percentage of essential/key workers in sectors such as healthcare, cleaning and waste management. The Daga *et al.* (2020) study on the higher mortality rate of BAME doctors in the UK (mentioned in Section 2.1) indicates that social determinants play a critical role in pandemic outcomes. While the working conditions and employment clauses may not be typically as alarming as those of temporary or undocumented workers, 'ethnicity accrues disadvantages that render income secondary' Kapilashrami and Bhui (2020). In their study on the racial lines of the virus, they note that ethnicity signals a certain underclass embedded in structures that maintain the status quo. McClure *et al.* (2020) argue that Covid-19 transmission 'illustrates how racial capitalism operates... (with) exposure among low-wage and essential-worker populations who are disproportionately racial and ethnic minorities and immigrants' (2020: 1249).

Gender

Gender intersects with all the conditions discussed in the previous subsections. Constituting a large part of the workforce in essential/frontline services (Fasani and Mazza 2020), women face the host of inequities discussed earlier. This is further compounded by their gendered experience of the workplace, discrimination, sexual harassment and lower pay than men.

In terms of occupational exposure, women make up a large percentage of healthcare workers around the world and 89% of nursing staff in Europe. The healthcare sector faces a much higher risk through interaction with patients and heightened interaction with other healthcare workers. Women are also overrepresented in domestic work, cleaning and care – sectors typically featuring low wages, little or no job security and often inadequate workplace safety provisions. Pre-existing safety threats make working conditions that much tougher. The EU FRA report also noted that migrant women in domestic work faced high threats of violence and sexual harassment (FRA 2019). Similar unsafe conditions persist among workers in agricultural and industrial settings.

Facing suboptimum employment conditions, the majority of the worldwide migrant workforce are women (Foley and Piper 2020). Most domestic workers have precarious contracts and lack job security, with some facing the threat of deportation or detention if they are sick or complain about working conditions (Foley and Piper 2020).

In an analysis of gender equality in the healthcare workforce in 104 countries, Boniol *et al.* (2019) found that women had significantly lower pay (-13% for hourly wages for physicians and -12% for nurses and midwives) and were much more likely to have short-term/part-time jobs. They also faced a higher risk of unemployment, especially during a pandemic or recession (Power 2020).

Though men are more at risk of serious consequences, hospitalisation and death from Covid-19, given the higher risk of infection faced by women, it is important to explore the gender-specific conditions of the pandemic response (Windsor-Shellard and Kaur 2020; Womersley *et al.* 2020). Womersley *et al.* (2020)

emphasise that PPE is not always designed to fit female workers, increasing their risk of exposure. In a study of the risks faced by female aid workers during the pandemic, Sharma *et al.* (2020) noted that even though frontline humanitarian aid workers are for the most part women, only 25% of leadership posts are held by women. Systemic gender bias is reflected even in the distribution of personal protective equipment and in pay gaps.

Furthermore, women are also more likely to become caregivers while schools, childcare and regular social and healthcare facilities are closed (Douglas *et al.* 2020). Women able to work from home face the additional burden of caregiving – several women reported being unable to achieve a good/tolerable work-life balance and faced higher levels of stress and burnout (García-González *et al.* 2020). Regardless of their skill and income levels, women are more likely to face a higher burden of household and caregiving duties during times of crisis, especially in the absence of childcare.

Another alarming outcome of the pandemic has been the rise in the incidence of domestic violence against women. The UN reports that 243 million women and girls faced sexual or physical violence by an intimate partner over the past year¹⁸. Calling it a Shadow Pandemic, the UN also noted that employers had a duty to care about the working conditions of their employees working remotely (UN Women 2020). Employers should also be trained to watch out for signs, have safe words and allow communication. Given the blurring boundaries between work and home, discussions around OSH should also consider whether home itself is a safe place for employees.

^{18.} UNWomen is collecting data on the impact of Covid-19 on women, from jobs and increased care burdens to the alarming rise in domestic violence. https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/in-focus-gender-equality-in-covid-19-response/violence-against-women-during-covid-19

5. Discussion: the way forward

Based on our findings, we argue that mitigation efforts should cover all three aspects of occupational health and safety: employment conditions, working conditions and sociodemographic factors shaped by/interacting with work. Throughout the report, we have highlighted ongoing action by trade unions to demand actionable policy measures and ensure the health and safety of workers across the shopfloor. We draw on both trade union reports and scientific studies to delineate some policy recommendations that touch on the various intersectional factors determining workers' health and safety.

Recognise Covid-19 as an occupational disease in multiple sectors

While most countries acknowledged Covid-19 as an occupational disease for key workers (healthcare workers and key responders), other occupations such as social care and domestic workers are not included (in all countries) even though they are at risk (George and George 2020; Koh and Goh 2020; Berger et al. 2020). Even sectors such as meat processing and farming, where workers do not seem at first sight to be exposed to the disease but are critical vectors of infection, should be recognised (Watterson 2020). Protection should be extended to gig workers, irregular workers and even those working for subcontractors. This will ensure that employers are held accountable and forced to comply with the relevant OSH standards. In some sectors in Italy, Covid-19 has been declared an occupational injury as opposed to a disease. Chirico and Magnavita (2020) argue that this is a stronger approach legally, as calling it an injury assumes that it occurred at work. This avoids putting the onus on the employee to prove how and when the disease was contracted. Furthermore, OSH guidelines should take into consideration the various factors impacting workers' health. For instance, there seem to be no clear rules on the housing conditions of temporary migrant workers, arguably a further critical aspect of OSH measures.

Introduce standardised guidelines and significant checks and balances

Primary responsibility for workplace safety lies with employers; however, expansive guidelines, inspections and heavy fines for defaulters are needed (Caxaj *et al.* 2020). 'Employers are more likely to implement these controls when they are mandated by a government agency that has adequate enforcement tools to ensure compliance' (Michaels and Wagner 2020). In the case studies and examples cited above, we see that in several sectors barely minimum measures are put in place, often in a lackadaisical manner. The ETUC has been tracking violations across several EU countries, finding not only that several employers are unaware of the measures or unwilling to adopt them, but also that in some countries there have been very few inspections even in critical sectors such

as elderly care¹⁹. In Ireland, the Health and Safety Authority (HSA) had faced many budget cuts in previous years, with the consequence that, despite recent improvements, 'workplace inspections had halved over a 10-year period'. The Irish HSA has only 109 inspectors, of which 67 were assigned to carry out Covid-19 inspections. According to the ETUC findings, in Denmark the labour inspectorate was not initially considered an essential service; following lobbying by the trade unions it resumed work in July. It is important not only to strengthen national capacities for OSH measures to be implemented but also to be enforced. The European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Tourism Trade Unions has also called for EU-wide harmonised health protocols. Furthermore, these mechanisms should remain alert to the link between precarious work and OSH and have preventive and enforcement measures in place (De Wispelaere and Gillis 2021). As mentioned earlier, the European Commission is now working on a new EU Occupational Safety and Health strategy, a strategy that needs to include not only more concrete guidelines at national and transnational level but also to boost investment in OSH infrastructures.

Empower workers

Covid-19 has provided an impetus for changing solidarity and collective action, providing a foothold for multidisciplinary worker cooperative movements (Duke 2020). In an economic system that puts profit over production conditions, workers need to be sufficiently empowered to play an active role in demanding better working conditions. They need to be involved in designing and implementing the protocols of their working lives during the pandemic (Block *et al.* 2020). Workers in the private sector, workers in precarious jobs and on short-term contracts should all have the right to participate in unions and be represented in decision-making processes as much as possible. In an open letter to the Commissioner for Jobs and Social Rights, the European Commission and the European Parliament, several transnational trade unions call for 'collective bargaining and worker involvement' and for dialogue with trade union representatives from all strata of workers (from the shopfloor to corporate bodies)²⁰. As we have seen, a key aspect of empowering workers is to ensure that their right to information, consultation and participation is enforced. The letter notes that a Directive to this end is crucial, along with sanctions imposed on those not complying. George and George (2020) also note that it is 'unlikely that any workplace will be spared from the outbreak'. What is important, they note, is that the rights of the workers be upheld in accordance with the health and safety legislation in place: 'It is imperative that all stakeholders in workplaces, including management, workers and organised labour, understand their legal rights in terms of the legislation with regard to infectious disease outbreaks' (George and George 2020: 260). The principal stakeholders in this dialogue are the workers themselves. As Benach et al. (2017) point out, 'health cannot be delegated'. Thus, workers must be empowered through knowledge of their rights, of health risks and of the tools giving them real influence to negotiate and ensure better employment and working conditions.

^{19.} https://www.etuc.org/en/document/etuc-note-violations-osh-regulations-returningworkplace

^{20.}https://bit.ly/2Oe6f60

Sector-specific OSH measures

It is important to have sector-specific risk assessments of the burden of exposure to Covid-19 (Petersen et al. 2020). As seen in the scientific studies and case studies cited earlier, different sectors need different measures. Structural changes such as reducing production line speeds²¹ can clash with productivity, while Plexiglass barriers might not be practical in a certain setting (Dyal et al. 2020). While regular hand washing is key advice, we note that not all sectors have access to water or even field sanitation. Furthermore, given the intersections of low-skilled, migrant and ethnic backgrounds, it is important for employers to consider the composition of their workforces and ensure equitable measures in circumstances extraneous to the physical workplace itself – including housing and transport. Given the large number of migrant workers in certain sectors, it is also imperative that information campaigns are provided on a range of platforms and in all major shopfloor languages, including sign language (Berger et al. 2020). There should be clear messaging from the government and proper communication between healthcare providers, scientists and politicians (George and George). Psychological support is also a major area of concern for workers across sectors. Warning signs of the toll of the pandemic on the mental health of caregivers (Le Soir 2020), doctors and workers in non-medical sectors (Hummel et al. 2021) indicate an urgent need to prioritise the matter.

Job security and paid sick leave

In the wake of the pandemic, several exploitative labour market policies have come under criticism, especially the 'sub-contracting' of posted workers. In July, Germany announced that it would stop allowing subcontracted labour in meat processing plants. Though a positive move, research indicates that subcontracting remains prevalent in other industries. Besides subcontracted labour, precarious workers, gig workers, self-employed and temporary workers (migrant and native) should be given equitable pay, paid sick leave and access to healthcare and sanitation as part of their job contracts. While permanent workers have access to paid sick leave in most countries, several high-income countries have no provisions for self-employed and gig economy workers to get paid sick leave (Heymann et al. 2020). Surveys and news reports show that workers across sectors, including nurses on short-term contracts, have no recourse to paid sick leave in a number of EU countries. In October, the European Council adopted 'conclusions' on Strengthening Minimum Income Protection to Combat Poverty and Social Exclusion in the Covid-19 Pandemic and Beyond, noting that 'minimum income schemes contribute to the social protection of the most disadvantaged groups in society, including people hardest-hit by the Covid-19 crisis. They also have a stabilising effect for the economy as a whole. The Council also acknowledges that such schemes help people's inclusion in employment and society'22.

^{21.} Report of an investigation by the CDC on Smithfield Foods looking at factors exacerbating the spread of Covid-19 and suggestions on mitigating the health risks. https://covid.sd.gov/docs/smithfield_recs.pdf

^{22.} https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2020/10/12/strengtheningminimum-income-protection-in-the-covid-19-pandemic-and-beyond-council-adoptsconclusions/

Damini Purkayastha, Christophe Vanroelen, Tuba Bircan, Marthe Andrea Vantyghem and Clara Gantelet Adsera

Do away with the link between residence, healthcare and employment

Studies (discussed previously) note that migrants, especially undocumented migrants, are less likely to make use of healthcare facilities (insofar as they have access to them) out of fear of being deported. Even documented workers on temporary contracts may not have access to affordable healthcare. It is important for healthcare to become independent of legal residence status. Especially in times of crisis, migrants and refugees should be given the same legal rights to healthcare and included in any detection, testing and tracing and information plans (Petersen *et al.* 2020). Bhopal (2020a; 2020b) suggests the temporary suspension of all exclusionary measures to ensure that undocumented migrants feel comfortable enough to approach authorities regarding healthcare concerns. 'Fair and equitable sharing of health resources mitigates further risks to public health by meeting community needs and generates trust. Individuals with ambiguous citizenship rights, regardless of their legal status, should be offered care, thereby encouraging them to report when they are ill and stop the spread of Covid-19' (Berger *et al.* 2020).

Better data

The first section of our report highlighted the importance of accurate and timely data in order to assess the impact of Covid-19 on various segments of the population. Without this, it is difficult to understand who is contracting the disease and what their potential sources of exposure might be (Khalatbari-Soltani et al. 2020). This makes analysis dependent on estimates, sector or country-specific case studies and anecdotal information. Access to reliable data disaggregated by occupation, gender and migrant background would allow policymakers to work with researchers on improving mitigation plans. Rates of infection and excess mortality among healthcare workers vary dramatically between countries and it is critical to understand which clinical settings, social factors and OSH standards result in low rates (ICN 2020). Studies *cited in* this report show how data can reveal critical patterns in the spread of the disease and subsequent access to healthcare, especially in terms of sociodemographic characteristics. And, as Khalatbari-Soltani et al. (2020) argue, these factors must be considered as clinical factors determining the outcome of the disease. Keeping track of independent determinants will also help policymakers create an intersectional gradient in OSH and will provide input for future policies.

The critical factor of trust

Ultimately, providing equitable measures and support to workers across society is a critical aspect of recovering from the pandemic and avoiding future outbreaks. Such steps will also go a long way in building people's trust in national governments and EU institutions. The Eurofound e-survey noted that trust in governmental institutions and EU institutions was lower than trust in healthcare systems. Trust levels were slightly higher among those who receive benefits (unemployment, food vouchers etc.) and lower among those whose requests (such as loan deferral, wage support, paid sick leave etc.) were rejected (Eurofound 2020). Trust in institutions is essential as it helps ensure that people follow the measures implemented by the government (Fukuyama 2020; Rothstein 2020 *cited in* Eurofound 2020). Work, health and Covid-19: a literature review

'Honest, transparent communication is vital; confusing or contradictory health messaging engenders mistrust and people to seek information from unreliable sources' (Berger *et al.* 2020).

Damini Purkayastha, Christophe Vanroelen, Tuba Bircan, Marthe Andrea Vantyghem and Clara Gantelet Adsera

6. Conclusion

By the start of 2021, most countries around the world had made compromises between health and the economy. Even as vaccinations get underway, it is clear that mitigation efforts have so far not been that effective, meaning that it is now more critical than ever to spotlight discussions on occupational health and safety.

This report presents an overview of Covid-19 as an occupational disease and the various factors - on the surface and underlying - that impact the risks faced by workers in various sectors. While measures such as working from home and self-isolation go a long way towards countering the threat of contracting and spreading the disease, (case) studies indicate that these options are a matter of 'privilege' (Yancy 2020), i.e. not available to all. Governments, employers, unions and workers need to remain vigilant, ensuring that OSH measures are in place for those having to work in physical settings. These measures need to be inclusive and equitable and should also address the extraneous factors directly impacting health and healthcare, while keeping the economy open and unemployment in check. As McClure et al. (2020) state: 'By ignoring and misrepresenting root causes of poor health among workers, we absolve industries and government leaders of their responsibility for equitable health protection. In the midst of the Covid-19 crisis, we have an opportunity to critically evaluate our methods and take measurable steps toward promoting social justice and health equity' (2020: 1250). Perhaps the most critical revelation of the crisis has been how dependent society is on its most vulnerable workers for everything from food to sanitation. Ensuring better working and employment conditions for key workers and guaranteeing their access to healthcare - not only during the pandemic - must be a top priority. Small steps towards improvement have already been taken. Politicians and policymakers have acknowledged that there are major problems regarding the safety and wellbeing of workers. At the same time, global unions have come together to share their information and weapons against the virus.

With growing recognition that a fair and equitable society will be more resilient to Covid-19, it is important to keep the momentum going in this field. Any measures intended to mitigate the spread of diseases must be inclusive for everyone in order for them to be as effective as possible.

References

- Adams J.G. and Walls R.M. (2020) Supporting the healthcare workforce during the Covid-19 global epidemic, Journal American Medical Association, 323 (15), 1439–1440. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.3972
- Adams-Prassl A., Boneva T., Golin M. and Rauh C. (2020) Inequality in the impact of the coronavirus shock: evidence from real time surveys, Working Paper 2020/18, Cambridge, Cambridge INET-Institute.
- AFP (2020) Bavarian farm locked after 174 workers contract coronavirus, The Local, 27 July 2020. https://www.thelocal.de/20200727/german-farm-locked-down-after-174-workers-contract-Covid-19
- Agius R.M. (2020) Doctors' deaths from Covid-19 should be reported to the coroner, British Medical Journal, 369, m1622. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1622
- Alkon A.H., Bowen S., Kato Y. *et al.* (2020) Unequally vulnerable: a food justice approach to racial disparities in Covid-19 cases. Agric Hum Values 37, 535–536 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10110-z
- Anderson G., Frank J.W., Naylor C.D., Wodchis W. and Feng P. (2020) Using socioeconomics to counter health disparities arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, British Medical Journal, 369, m2149. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2149
- Andriescu M. (2020) Under lockdown amid Covid-19 pandemic, Europe feels the pinch from slowed intra
- EU labour mobility, Migration Policy Institute, 1 May 2020. https://www.migrationpolicy. org/article/covid19-europe-feels-pinch-slowed-intra-eu-labor-mobility
- Baker M.G., Peckham T.K. and Seixas N.S. (2020) Estimating the burden of United States workers exposed to infection or disease: a key factor in containing risk of Covid-19 infection, PLOS ONE, 15 (4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232452
- Bambrick L. (2020) Opinion: the state of sick pay in Ireland is sickening, The Journal, 16 August 2020. https://www.thejournal.ie/readme/sick-pay-ireland-opinion-ictulaura-bambrick-5175914-Aug2020/
- Barbieri T., Basso G. and Scicchitano S. (2020) Covid-19 epidemic: Italian workers exposed to risk and the lockdown, VOXEU, 27 April 2020. https://voxeu.org/article/Covid-19-workerss-exposure-risk-and-lockdown
- Bavel J.J.V. *et al.* (2020) Using social and behavioural science to support Covid-19 pandemic response, Nature Human Behaviour, 4, 460–471.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z

- BBC (2020) Covid: Belgian doctors with coronavirus asked to keep working, BBC News, 26 October 2020. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-54688846
- Belingheri M., Paladino M.E. and Riva M.A. (2020) Covid-19: health prevention and control in non-healthcare settings, Occupational Medicine, 70 (2), 82–83.
- Benach J., Muntaner C. and Santana V. (2007) Employment conditions and health inequalities, EMCONET, Geneva, World Health Organization. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqaa048

Benach J., Vives A., Tarafa G., Delclos C. and Muntaner C. (2016) What should we know about precarious employment and health in 2025? Framing the agenda for the next decade of research, International Journal of Epidemiology, 45 (1), 232–238. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyv342

Bender R. (2020) Europe's schools are closing again on concerns they spread Covid-19, The Wall Street Journal, 16 January 2020. https://www.wsj.com/articles/europesschools-are-closing-again-on-concerns-they-spread-Covid-19-11610805601

Berger Z.D., Evans N.G., Phelan A.L. and Silverman R.D. (2020) Covid-19: control measures must be equitable and inclusive, British Medical Journal, 368, m1141. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1141

Bernauer W. and Slowey G. (2020) Covid-19, extractive industries, and indigenous communities in Canada: notes towards a political economy research agenda, The Extractive Industries and Society, 7 (3), 844-846. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2020.05.012

Bettinger-Lopez C. and Bro A. (2020) A double pandemic: domestic violence in the age of Covid-19, Council on Foreign Relations, 13 May 2020. https://www.cfr.org/in-brief/ double-pandemic-domestic-violence-age-Covid-19

Bhopal R. (2020a) Covid-19: undocumented migrants are probably at greatest risk, The British Medical Journal, 369, m1673. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1673

Bhopal R. (2020b) Covid-19: immense necessity and challenges in meeting the needs of minorities, especially asylum seekers and undocumented migrants, Public Health, 182, 161-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.04.010

 Bielicki J., Duval X., Gobat N., Goossens H., Koopmans M., Tacconelli E. and van der Werf S. (2020) Monitoring approaches for health-care workers during the Covid-19 pandemic, The Lancet, 23 July 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30458-8

Block S., Kahn S., Rogers B. and Sachs B.I. (2020) How and why to empower workers in the Covid-19 response, Issue Brief, April 2020, New York, Roosevelt Institute. https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/how-and-why-to-empower-workers-in-the-Covid-19-response/

Boniol M., McIsaac M., Xu L., Wuliji T., Diallo K. and Campbell J. (2019) Gender equity in the health workforce: analysis of 104 countries, Health Workforce Working Paper 1, Geneva, World Health Organization.

Borges A. and Huet N. (2020) Invisible workers: underpaid, exploited and put at risk on Europe's farms, EuroNews, 22 July 2020. https://www.euronews.com/2020/07/17/ invisible-workers-underpaid-exploited-and-put-at-risk-on-europe-s-farms

Boswell C. and Straubhaar T. (2004) The illegal employment of foreign workers: an overview, Intereconomics, 39 (1), 4–10.

Bourgrea A. and De Bouw J. (2020) Coronavirus is niet kleurenblind, De Standaard, 11 July 2020. https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20200709_97011493

Bowleg L. (2020) We' re not all in this together: on Covid-19, intersectionality, and structural inequality, American Journal of Public Health, 110 (7), 917. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305766

Braun E., Kayali L. and Tamma P. (2020) Coronavirus pandemic leaves gig economy workers exposed, Politico, 19 March 2020. https://www.politico.eu/article/coronavirus-pandemic-leaves-gig-economy-workers-exposed/

Burdorf A., Porru F. and Rugulies R. (2020) The Covid-19 (coronavirus) pandemic: consequences for occupational health, Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 46 (3), 229–230. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3893 Butler T. (2020) How has the mining industry responded to Covid-19?, The Word Economic Forum for Covid Action Platform, 14 September 2020. https://www.weforum.org/ agenda/2020/09/how-has-the-mining-industry-responded-to-Covid-19/

Cagle S. (2020) California's farm workers pick America's essential produce – unprotected from coronavirus, The Guardian, 31 March 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/mar/31/us-coronavirus-outbreak-california-farm-workers

Calderone J.R., Abel A.M. and Rosenbaum E. (2020) Covid-19 and undocumented Immigrants, Family Doctor, 9 (1), 37-40.

Camilli A. (2020) The coronavirus emergency among migrant farm workers in Italy, The Wire, 10 December 2020. https://thewire.in/world/the-coronavirus-emergency-among-migrant-farm-workers-in-italy

Caxaj S. and Plamondon K. (2020) Nurses' role in improving healthcare access for migrant agricultural workers, Canadian Nurse, 3 March 2020. https://canadian-nurse.com/en/articles/issues/2020/march-2020/nurses-role-in-improving-health-care-access-for-migrant-agricultural-workers

Caxaj S., Cohen A., Colindres C., Drolet N., Hennebry J. and McLaughlin J. (2020) Government Covid-19 guidelines gamble on the lives of migrant agricultural workers, Richmond Hill, Canadian Science Policy Centre.

Charles D. (2020) Covid-19 threatens food supply chain as farms worry about workers falling ill, NPR, 18 March 2020. https://www.npr.org/2020/03/18/816644358/Covid-19-threatens-food-supply-chain-as-farms-worry-about-workers-falling-ill?t=1611874440893

Chirico F. and Magnavita N. (2020). Covid-19 infection in Italy: An occupational injury. South African Medical Journal. 110. 436. 10.7196/SAMJ.2020.v110i6.14855.

Coleman J.J., Manavi K., Marson E.J., Botkai A.H. and Sapey E. (2020) Covid-19: to be or not to be; that is the diagnostic question, Postgraduate Medical Journal, 96 (1137), 392–398. https://doi.org/10.1136/postgradmedj-2020-137979

Colon E. (2020) Workers, resistance and Covid-19, Irish Marxist Review, 9 (27), 44-49.

Connolly K. (2020) Meat plant must be held to account for Covid-19 outbreak, says German minister, The Guardian, 22 June 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/jun/22/meat-plant-must-be-held-to-account-Covid-19-outbreak-germany

Counil E. and Khlat M. (2020) Covid-19: les classes populaires paient-elles le plus lourd tribut au coronavirus en France?, The Conversation, 18 May 2020. https://theconversation.com/Covid-19-les-classes-populaires-paient-elles-le-plus-lourd-

tribut-au-coronavirus-en-france-138190 Cowling B.J. and Aiello A.E. (2020) Public health measures to slow community spread of

coronavirus Disease 2019, The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 221 (11), 1749-1751. Cubrich M. (2020) On the frontlines: protecting low-wage workers during Covid-19,

Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 12 (1), 186-187. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/tra0000721

Daga S., Chakravorty I., Bamrah J.S., Menon G., Dave S., Chakravorty S., Bhala N. and Mehta R. (2020) Self-reported occupational risk for Covid-19 in hospital doctors from Black Asian & minority ethnic communities in UK, The Physician, 6 (1). https://doi.org/10.38192/1.6.1.9

Dale B., Fehr C. and Pfenning J. (2020) Knowing the borders of Canada's food system, Union Farmer Quarterly, 26 (1), 16.

Dean A., Venkataramani A. and Kimmel S. (2020) Mortality rates from Covid-19 are lower in unionized nursing homes, Health Affairs, 39 (11), 1933-2001. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01011

- Debusschere B. (2020) De plekken die u moet mijden: waar riskeert u een coronabesmetting?, De Morgen, 8 August 2020. https://www.demorgen.be/voor-u-uitgelegd/de-plekkendie-u-moet-mijden-waar-riskeert-u-een-coronabesmetting~b0f979351/
- Desombere I., Mortgat L. and Duysburg E. (2020) Covid-19 study: 8.4% of Belgian health workers have antibodies to SARS-COV-2, Sciensano, 26 May 2020. https://www.sciensano.be/en/press-corner/Covid-19-study-84-belgian-health-workershave-antibodies-sars-cov-2
- Dewan A. (2020) Europe has kept its schools open for much of the pandemic. Now closures loom, CNN, 4 January 2020. https://edition.cnn.com/2021/01/04/health/europe-school-closures-Covid-19-gbr-intl/index.html
- De Wispelaere F. and Gillis D. (2021) Covid-19 and the fight against undeclared work, Leuven, KU Leuven HIVA.
- Dingel J. and Neiman B. (2020) How many jobs can be done at home?, Covid Economics, CEPR Press, 1, 3 April 2020, 16-24.
- Douglas M., Katikireddi S.V., Taulbut M., McKee M. and McCartney G. (2020) Mitigating the wider health effects of Covid-19 pandemic response, British Medical Journal, 369, m1557. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1557
- Duke B. (2020a) The effects of the Covid-19 crisis on the gig economy and zero hour contracts, Interface, 17 April 2020. https://www.interfacejournal.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Interface-12-1-Duke.pdf
- Duke B. (2020b) Back of the queue: self-employed workers during and after the Covid-19 pandemic, London School of Economics Blog, 11 June 2020.
- https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/self-employed-workers-covid19/
- Dyal J.W. et al. (2020) Covid-19 among workers in meat and poultry processing facilities 19 States, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69 (18), 557-561. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6918e3
- EFFAT (2020) Without rights for agri-food workers, Europe's food supplies rest on shaky ground, Joint Statement, 16 April 2020.
- ETUC (2020) Overlooked: migrant workers in the Covid-19 crisis, 16 May 2020. https://www.etuc.org/en/document/overlooked-migrant-workers-Covid-19-crisis
- EU-OSHA (2020) Covid-19 back to the workplace: adapting workplaces and protecting workers. https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/Covid-19-back-workplace-adapting-workplaces-and-protecting-workers/view
- Eurofound (2020) Living, working and Covid-19, Covid-19 series, Luxembourg, Publications Office of the European Union. https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ ef_publication/field_ef_document/ef20059en.pdf
- European Commission (2009) Clandestino Project, Final report, 23 November 2009.
- Fasani F. and Mazza J. (2020) Immigrant key workers: their contribution to Europe's Covid-19 response, IZA Policy Paper 155, Bonn, Institute of Labor Economics.
- Flores E.O. and Padilla A. (2020) Hidden threat: California Covid-19 surges and worker distress, Policy Brief 7/2020, Merced, CA, Community and Labor Centre at the University of California Merced.
- Foley L. and Piper N. (2020) Covid-19 and women migrant workers: impacts and implications, Geneva, International Organization for Migration.
- Folkhalsomyndigheten (2020a) Covid-19: Demografisk beskrivning av bekräftade Covid-19 fall 13 mars 7 maj, Solna, Folkhalsomyndigheten.
- Folkhälsomyndigheten (2020b) Förekomst av Covid-19 i olika yrkesgrupper. http://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-material/

- FRA (2020) Protecting migrant workers from exploitation in the EU: workers' perspectives, Luxembourg, Publications Office of the European Union. https://fra.europa.eu/sites/ default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2019-severe-labour-exploitation-workers-perspectives_ en.pdf
- Fukuyama F. (2020) The thing that determines a country's resistance to the coronavirus, The Atlantic, 31 March 2020. https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2020/03/ thing-determines-how-well-countries-respond-coronavirus/609025/
- Gaffney A., Himmelstein D. and Woolhandler S. (2020) Risk for severe Covid-19 illness among teachers and adults living with school-aged children, Annals of International Medicine, 3 November 2020. https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-5413
- García-González M.A., Torrano F. and García-González G. (2020) Analysis of stress factors for female professors at online universities, International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17 (8), 2958.
- Gaudiaut T. (2020) Salaries: where do nurses compare to the average?, World Economic Forum, 14 May 2020. https://fr.weforum.org/agenda/2020/05/salaires-ou-se-situentles-infirmieres-par-rapport-a-la-moyenne/
- George R. and George A. (2020) Covid-19 as an occupational disease?, The South African Medical Journal, 110 (4), 260.
- Gleason W. (2020) Covid-19 and the United States mining industry; mining as essential critical infrastructure, Mining Engineering, 72 (5), 26-27.
- Grull P. (2020) German labour minister announces stricter standards in the meat industry, EURACTIV, 29 July 2020. https://www.euractiv.com/section/agriculture-food/news/ german-labour-minister-announces-stricter-standards-in-the-meat-industry/
- Hanage W.P, Testa C., Chen J.T., Davis L., Pechter E., Santillana M. and Krieger N. (2020) Covid-19: US Federal accountability for entry, spread and inequities, Working Paper Vol.20 No.2, Boston, MA, The Harvard Centre for Population and Development Studies. https://bit.ly/20guiSc
- Haley E., Caxaj S., George G., Nennebry J.L., Martell E. and McLaughlin J. (2020) Migrant farmworkers face heightened vulnerabilities during Covid-19, Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 9 (3), 35–39.
- Hargreaves S., Kumar B.N., McKee M., Jones L. and Veizis A. (2020) Europe's migrant containment policies threaten the response to Covid-19, British Medical Journal, 368, m1213. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1213
- Haseltine W.A. (2020) Nearly 300,000 healthcare workers have been infected with Covid-19 worldwide, threatening health systems, Forbes, 17 November 2020. https://www.forbes. com/sites/williamhaseltine/2020/11/17/the-infection-of-hundreds-of-thousands-of-healthcare-workers-worldwide-poses-a-threat-to-national-health-systems/
- Hattenstone S. (2020) 'The virus piggybacked on racism': why did Covid-19 hit BAME Families so hard?, The Guardian, 8 August 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2020/aug/08/the-virus-piggybacked-on-racism-why-did-Covid-19-hit-bamefamilies-so-hard?
- Heymann J., Raub A., Waisath W., McCormack M., Weistroffer R., Moreno G., Wong E. and Earle A. (2020) Protecting health during Covid-19 and beyond: a global examination of paid sick leave design in 193 countries, Global Public Health, 15 (7), 925-934. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2020.1764076
- Ho V. (2020) ' Everyone tested positive': Covid devastates agriculture workers in California's heartland, The Guardian, 8 August 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2020/aug/08/california-Covid-19-central-valley-essential-workers

Holdert M. and van Hest R. (2020) RIVM-richtlijnen ouderenzorg hadden magere wetenschappelijke basis, NOS, 16 July 2020.

https://nos.nl/nieuwsuur/artikel/2340867-rivm-richtlijnen-ouderenzorg-haddenmagere-wetenschappelijke-basis.html

Holland K. (2020) Call for 'precarious' contracts of frontline nurses to be clarified, The Irish Times, 2 May 2020. https://www.irishtimes.com/news/health/call-for-precariouscontracts-of-frontline-nurses-to-be-clarified-1.4243041

Holt A. and Butcher B. (2020) Coronavirus deaths: how big is the pandemic in care homes?, BBC, 15 May 2020. https://www.bbc.com/news/health-52284281

Hooper M.W., Nápoles A.M. and Pérez-Stable E.J. (2020) Covid-19 and racial/ethnic disparities, Journal of American Medical Association, 323 (24), 2466–2467. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.8598

Huet N. (2020) Covid-19 outbreaks in German slaughterhouses expose grim working conditions in meat industry, EuroNews, 13 May 2020.
 https://www.euronews.com/2020/05/12/Covid-19-outbreaks-in-german-slaughterhouses-expose-grim-working-conditions-in-meat-indust

Hummel S. *et al.* (2021) Mental health among medical professionals during the Covid-19 pandemic in eight European countries: cross-sectional survey study, Journal of Medical Internet Research, 23 (1). https://doi.org/10.2196/24983

Iacobucci G. (2020) Covid-19: racism may be linked to ethnic minorities' raised death risk, says PHE, British Medical Journal, 2020, 369, m2421. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2421

ICN (2020) More than 600 nurses die from Covid-19 worldwide, 3 June 2020, Geneva, International Council of Nurses. https://www.icn.ch/news/more-600-nurses-die-Covid-19-worldwide

J.M.L. (2020) Los inmigrantes confinados por la Covid-19 en Albacete se enfrentan a la Policía, El Norte de Castillia, 5 August 2020. http://bit.ly/2PKQ5Sp

Kapilashrami A. and Bhui K. (2020) Mental health and Covid-19: is the virus racist?, The British Journal of Psychiatry, 217 (2), 405-407. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.93

Khalatbari-Soltani S., Cumming R.C., Delpierre C. and Kelly-Irving M. (2020) Importance of collecting data on socioeconomic determinants from the early stage of the Covid-19 outbreak onwards, Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 74 (8), 620-623.

Khunti K. Platt L., Routen A. and Abbasi K. (2020) Covid-19 and ethnic minorities: an urgent agenda for overdue action, British Medical Journal, 369, m2503. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2503

Kinniburg C. (2020) Covid-19: how the meat industry became a global health liability, France24, 25 May 2020. https://www.france24.com/en/20200524-Covid-19-how-themeat-industry-became-a-global-health-liability

Koh D. and Goh H.P. (2020) Occupational health responses to Covid-19: what lessons can we learn from SARS?, Journal of Occupational Health, 62 (1). https://doi.org/10.1002/1348-9585.12128

Lacobucci G. (2020) Covid-19: racism may be linked to ethnic minorities' raised death risk, says PHE, British Medical Journal, 369, m2421. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2421

Lan F.Y., Wei C.F., Hsu Y.T., Christiani D.C. and Kales S.N. (2020) Work-related Covid-19 transmission in six Asian countries/areas: a follow-up study, PLOS ONE, 15 (5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233588

Le Soir (2020) Commission spéciale Covid-19: les experts pointent de nombreuses lacunes, Le Soir, 7 August 2020. https://www.lesoir.be/317757/article/2020-08-07/commission-speciale-Covid-19-les-experts-pointent-de-nombreuses-lacunes

- Leahy S. (2020) Mines are hotspots for spread of Covid-19, study finds, The Guardian, 5 June 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/jun/05/mines-coronavirus-hotspots-report-us-canada
- Lee G. (2020) Coronavirus: what went wrong at Germany's Gütersloh meat factory?, BBC, 25 June 2020. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-53177628
- Liem A., Wang C., Wariyanti Y., Latkin C.A. and Hall B.J. (2020) The neglected health of international migrant workers in the Covid-19 epidemic, The Lancet Psychiatry, 7 (4), 20.
- Lu M. (2020) These are the occupations with the highest Covid-19 risk, World Economic Forum, 20 April 2020. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/occupationshighest-covid19-risk
- Ludvigsson J.F. (2020) Children are unlikely to be the main drivers of the Covid-19 pandemic - A systematic review, Acta Paediatrica, 109 (8), 1525-1530. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.15371
- MacIntyre C.R., Chughtai A.A., Kunasekaran M.P., Bhattacharjee S. and Engalls T.E. (2020) Risk mitigation of inadvertent exposure to biothreats to front line law enforcement, Global Biosecurity, 1 (3).
- Mangeney C., Bouscaren N., Telle-Lamberton M., Saunal A. and Féron V. (2020) La surmortalité durant l'épidémie de Covid-19 dans les départements franciliens, Focus Santé en Île- de-France, April 2020, Paris, Observatoire régional de santé Île-de-France.
- Mares T. (2020) What a stay-at-home order means for migrant dairy workers, Agriculture and Human Values, 37, 585-586. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10068-y
- McClure E.S., Vasudevan P., Bailey Z., Patel S. and Robinson W.R. (2020) Racial capitalism within public health—How occupational settings drive Covid-19 disparities, American Journal of Epidemiology, 189 (11), 1244–1253. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwaa126
- McNicholas C., Rhinehart L., Poydock M., Shierholz H. and Perez D. (2020) Why unions are good for workers – especially in a crisis like Covid-19, Washington, DC, Economic Policy Institute. https://files.epi.org/pdf/204014.pdf
- Michaels D. and Wagner G.R. (2020) Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and Worker Safety During the Covid-19 Pandemic, JAMA 2020, 324 (14), 1389–1390. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.16343
- Middleton J., Reintjes R. and Lopes H. (2020) Meat plants—a new front line in the Covid-19 pandemic, British Medical Journal, 370, m2716. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2716
- Milasi S., González-Vásquez I. and Fernández-Macias E. (2020) Telework in the EU before and after the Covid-19: where we were, where we head to, Brussels, European Commission, Joint Research Centre.
- MWAC (2020) Unheeded warnings: Covid-19 and migrant workers in Canada, Toronto, Migrant Workers Alliance For Change. https://migrantworkersalliance.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/06/Unheeded-Warnings-Covid19-and-Migrant-Workers.pdf
- Mining Watch (2020a) Global Solidarity with communities, indigenous peoples and workers at risk from mining pandemic profiteers, 2 June 2020. https://www.rainforest-rescue.org/news/9761/global-solidarity-with-communities-indigenous-peoples-and-workers-at-risk-from-mining-pandemic-profiteers
- Mining Watch (2020b) Voices from the ground: how the Global Mining Industry is Profiting from the Covid-19 Pandemic. https://miningwatch.ca/sites/default/files/Covid-19_and_mining_-_snapshot_report.pdf
- MSF (2020) Migrant workers in Calabria suffering intolerable living and working conditions, Press Release, Médecins Sans Frontières, 18 December 2020. https://www.msf.org/ migrant-workers-calabria-italy-suffering-intolerable-living-and-working-conditions

- Munck R., Schierup C.U., Delgado Wise R. (2012) Migration, work and citizenship in the new world order, in Munck R., Schierup C.U., Delgado Wise R. (eds.) Migration, work and citizenship in the new global order, London, Routledge, 1–12.
- Neef A. (2020) Legal and social protection for migrant farm workers: lessons from Covid-19, Agriculture and Human Values, 37 (3), 641-642. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10086-w
- Newman C. (2020) Covid-19 mine closures spark unease in Poland, CGTN, 14 June 2020. https://newseu.cgtn.com/news/2020-06-14/Covid-19-mine-closures-spark-unease-in-Poland-RipKm6s7uw/index.html
- Nghiem L.D., Morgan B., Donner E. and Short M.D. (2020) The Covid-19 pandemic: considerations for the waste and wastewater services sector, Case Studies in Chemical and Environmental Engineering, 1, May 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cscee.2020.100006
- Nguyen L.H. *et al.* (2020) Risk of Covid-19 among front-line health-care workers and the general community: a prospective cohort study, The Lancet Public Health, 5 (9), 475-483.
- Nieuwenhuis M. (2020) Migranten sterven in Nederland relatief vaak aan corona, Algemeen Dagblad, 15 May 2020. https://www.ad.nl/binnenland/migranten-sterven-innederland-relatief-vaak-aan-corona~affa0179/
- Nilsen T. (2020) 'Uncontrolled outbreak' says city in northern Sweden and imposes lockdown, The Barents Observer, 17 June 2020. https://thebarentsobserver.com/en/life-andpublic/2020/06/uncontrolled-outbreak-says-city-northern-swedish-and-imposeslockdown
- Oddone E. (2020) Coronavirus fears for Italy's exploited African fruit pickers, Al Jazeera, 19 March 2020. https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2020/3/19/coronavirus-fears-for-italys-exploited-african-fruit-pickers
- Ollé-Espluga L., Vergara-Duarte M., Belvis F., Menéndez-Fuster M., Jódar P. and Benach J. (2015) What is the impact on occupational health and safety when workers know they have safety representatives?, Safety Science, 74, April 2015, 55–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2014.11.022
- Papon S. and Robert-Bobée I. (2020) Une hausse des décès deux fois plus forte pour les personnes nées à l'étranger que pour celles nées en France en mars-avril 2020, Paris, Institut National de la statistique et des études économiques.
- Patel J. (2020) Workers' compensation and Covid-19: pandemic highlights disparities across states, injuries vs. illnesses, Covid-19 Legislative Response Fact Sheet No 3, Washington, DC, National Academy of Social Insurance.
- Paun C., Furlong A., Mortkowitz S. and Mischke J. (2020) Authorities' shifting advice on face masks adds to confusion in coronavirus, Politico, 6 April 2020.
 - https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-fissures-over-face-masks-coronavirus/
- Pazzano J. (2020) Coronavirus: Canada's migrant farm workers face fatal Covid-19 outbreaks, alleged mistreatment, Global News, 28 August 2020. https://globalnews.ca/ news/7301324/coronavirus-canadas-migrant-farm-workers-alleged-mistreatment/
- Petersen E., Wasserman S., Lee S., Go U., Holmes A.H., Al-Abri S., McLellan S., Blumberg L. and Tambyah P. (2020) Covid-19 – We urgently need to start developing an exit strategy, International Journal of Infectious Diseases, July 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.04.035
- Power K.(2020) The Covid-19 pandemic has increased the care burden of women and families, Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy, 16 (1), 67-73. https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2020.1776561

Quinlan M., Mayhew C. and Bohle P. (2001) The global expansion of precarious employment, work disorganization, and consequences for occupational health: placing the debate in a comparative historical context, International Journal of Health Services, 31 (3), 507–536.

Radio Poland (2021) Poland confirms 14,151 new coronavirus cases, 553 more deaths, 6 January 2020. https://www.polskieradio.pl/395/7784/Artykul/2652898,Polandconfirms-14151-new-coronavirus-cases-553-more-deaths

Ray I. (2020) Viewpoint – Handwashing and Covid-19: simple, right there...?, World Development, 135, November 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105086

Rosemberg M.S. (2020) Health and safety considerations for hotel cleaners during Covid-19, Occupational Medicine, 70 (5), 382–383.

Rothstein B. (2020) Trust is the key to fighting the pandemic, Scientific American, 24 March 2020. https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/observations/trust-is-the-key-to-fighting-the-pandemic/

Rubin R. (2020) The challenge of preventing Covid-19 spread in correctional facilities, Journal of American Medical Association, 323 (18), 1760-1761. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.5427

Ruhs M. (2013) The price of rights: regulating international labour migration, Oxford, Princeton University Press.

Sanchez D.G., Parra N.G., Ozden C. and Rijkers B. (2020) Which jobs are most vulnerable to Covid-19? What an analysis of the European Union reveals, Research and Policy Briefs No. 148384, Washington, DC, World Bank Group.

Savage M. (2020) Coronavirus: what's going wrong in Sweden's care homes?, BBC, 19 May 2020. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-52704836

Scarpetta S., Broecke S. and Lane M. (2020a) What have platforms done to protect workers during the corona (Covid-19) crisis? OCED Policy Responses to Coronavirus (Covid-19).

Scarpetta S., Colombo F., De Bienassis K. and Llena-Nozal A. (2020) Workforce and safety in long-term care during the Covid-19 pandemic, Paris, OECD.

http://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/workforce-and-safety-in-long-term-care-during-the-Covid-19-pandemic-43fc5d50/

Semple S. and Cherrie J.W. (2020) Covid-19: protecting worker health, Annals of Work Exposures and Health, 64 (5), 461–464.

Sharma V., Scott J., Kelly J. and VanRooyen M.J. (2020) Prioritizing vulnerable populations and women on the frontlines: Covid-19 in humanitarian contexts, International Journal for Equity in Health, 19 (66). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01186-4

Shone E. (2021) More than 850 health and social care workers have died of Covid in England and Wales since the pandemic began, The Scotsman, 27 January 2021. https://www.scotsman.com/health/coronavirus/more-850-health-and-social-careworkers-have-died-covid-england-and-wales-pandemic-began-3114202

Siemaszko C. (2020) Language barriers helped turn Smithfield Food meat plant into Covid-19 hotspot, NBC News, 16 April 2020. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/language-barriers-helped-turn-smithfield-foods-meat-plant-Covid-19-n1190736

Simms A., Fear N.T. and Greenberg N. (2020) The impact of having inadequate safety equipment on mental health, Occupational Medicine, 70 (4), 278-281.

Sood A., Pollard C., Le Suer K., Vlahovich K. and Walker J. (2020) Caring for miners during the coronavirus disease-2019 (Covid-19) pandemic, The Journal of Rural Health, 37 (1), 165-168.

Sorbello M. *et al.* (2020) The Italian coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak: recommendations from clinical practice, Anaesthesia, 75 (6), 724-732.

- Spinazzè A., Cattaneo A. and Cavallo D.M. (2020) Covid-19 outbreak in Italy: protecting worker health and the response of the Italian industrial hygienists association, Annals of Work Exposures and Health, 64 (6), 559-564.
- Stephenson J. (2020) Covid-19 outbreaks among food production workers may intensify pandemic's disproportionate effects on people of color, Journal of American Medical Association, 19 June 2020.

https://jamanetwork.com/channels/health-forum/fullarticle/2767667?resultClick=1

- Summers A. (2020) Migrant farmworkers in Spain protest amid Covid-19 surge, World Socialist Web Site, 4 August 2020. https://www.wsws.org/en/articles/2020/08/04/ farm-a04.html
- The Brussels Times (2020) Over 500 Belgian police officers in Covid-19 quarantine, 26 October 2020. https://www.brusselstimes.com/belgium/137609/over-500-belgian-police-officers-in-Covid-19-quarantine-coronavirus-pandemic-annelies-verlinden-federal-local-police-self-isolation/
- The Brussels Times (2021) Covid positive man spits at police, 24 officers quarantined, 7 January 2021. https://www.brusselstimes.com/belgium/148580/covid-positive-manspits-at-police-24-officers-quarantined-aalst-vandalism-mask-coronavirus-test-christophdhaese-vaccinated-priority/
- The Local (2020) How do nurses' salaries in France compare to the rest of Europe?, The Local, 19 May 2020. https://www.thelocal.fr/20200519/how-do-french-nurses-salaries-compare-to-the-rest-of-europe
- Thewissen S., MacDonald D., Prinz C. and Stricot M. (2020) The critical role of paid sick leave in the Covid-19 health and labour market crisis, VOXEU, 8 July 2020. https://voxeu. org/article/paid-sick-leave-during-Covid-19-health-and-labour-market-crisis
- Thurau. J. (2020) Coronavirus: nurses in Germany remain understaffed and underpaid, DW, 17 July 2020. https://www.dw.com/en/coronavirus-germany-nursingwage/a-54197056
- Torjesen I. (2020) Covid-19: one in 10 cases in England occurred in frontline health and social care staff, British Medical Journal, 370, m2717. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. m2717
- UN Women (2020) The Covid-19 shadow pandemic: domestic violence in the world of work. A call to action for the private sector, UN Women, May 2020. https://www.unwomen. org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/brief-Covid-19-domestic-violence-in-the-world-of-work-en.pdf?la=en&vs=5715
- Van Bavel J.J. *et al.* (2020) Using social and behavioural science to support Covid-19 pandemic response, Nature Human Behavior, 4, 460–471. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z
- Van Eyken K. and Hertogs W. (2020) Belgische supermarktmedewerker (32) overleden, familie boos dat 'hij geen mondkapje mocht dragen', AD, 6 April 2020. https://www.ad.nl/buitenland/belgische-supermarktmedewerker-32-overleden-familieboos-dat-hij-geen-mondkapje-mocht-dragen~a6082a18/
- Vogel L. (2015) The machinery of occupational safety and health policy in the European Union: history, institutions, actors, Brussels, ETUI.
- Wagner B. and Hassel A. (2016) Posting, subcontracting and low-wage employment in the German meat industry. Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research, 22(2), 163–178. https://doi.org/10.1177/1024258916636012

Walger P. *et al.* (2020) Children and adolescents in the Covid-19 pandemic: schools and daycare centers are to be opened again without restrictions. The protection of teachers, educators, carers and parents and the general hygiene rules do not conflict with this, GMS Hygiene and Infection Control, 15, Doc11. https://doi.org/10.3205/dqkh000346

Waltenburg M.A. *et al.* (2020) Update: Covid-19 among workers in meat and poultry processing facilities, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 69 (27), 887-892. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6927e2.htm?s_cid=mm6927e2_e

Wanat Z. and Tamma P. (2020) Supermarket workers on the frontline of the coronavirus battle, Politico, 19 March 2020. https://www.politico.eu/article/supermarket-workers-on-the-frontline-of-corona-battle/

Watterson A.E. (2020) Chief coroner's guidance on Covid-19 deaths: workers outside the NHS are also vulnerable to risk, British Medical Journal, 369, m2179. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2179

Williams M. (2020) Coronavirus class divide – the jobs most at risk of contracting and dying from Covid-19, The Conversation, 19 May 2020. https://theconversation.com/coronavirus-class-divide-the-jobs-most-at-risk-of-

contracting-and-dying-from-Covid-19-138857

Windsor-Shellard B. and Kaur J. (2020) Coronavirus (Covid-19) related deaths by occupation, England and Wales: deaths registered up to and including 20 April 2020, Office for National Statistics, 11 May 2020. http://bit.ly/3cq4gUP

Windsor-Shellard B. and Butt A. (2020) Coronavirus (Covid-19) related deaths by occupation, England and Wales, ONS, 26 June 2020. http://bit.ly/3cq4gUP

Wise J. (2020) Covid-19: low skilled men have highest death rate of working age adults, British Medical Journal, 369, m1906. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1906

Womersley K., Ripullone K., Peters S. and Woodward M. (2020) Covid-19: male disadvantage highlights the importance of sex disaggregated data, British Medical Journal, 370, m2870. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2870

Yancy C.W. (2020) Covid-19 and African Americans, Journal of American Medical Association, 323 (19), 1891–1892. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.6548

All links were checked on 18 February 2021.

Annex 1 Sectors declared 'crucial' in association with Covid-19 by the Dutch Government

Table 1 Crucial sectors in connection with COVID-19

In the specific context of the COVID-19 outbreak, there are certain sectors and processes that are crucial to keeping society running. Parents and guardians working in these crucial sectors can make use of childcare facilities. The following sectors and processes have been classified as crucial:

- Healthcare and care, including the production and transportation of medicines and medical devices.
- Education: teachers and support staff who are needed to provide distance learning, childcare at schools and exam supervision.
- Public transport.
- Food supply. This should be understood in the broadest sense and includes supermarkets, deliveries to supermarkets, the food processing industry and related transport, the collection of products from farms, deliveries of animal feed and other products to farms and access for harvest workers.
- Transportation of fuel, including coal, oil, petrol and diesel.
- Refuse and waste collection.
- Childcare.
- Media and communication, in so far as this work relates to providing society with necessary information about the current situation.
- Emergency services (the police service and Defence organisation have already been classified as critical):
- control room processes
- fire services
- ambulance services
- Regional Emergency Medical Services (GHOR)
- safety regions' crisis management.
- essential government processes (central, provincial and municipal government), such as payment of benefits and allowances, population affairs, consulates and embassies, custodial institutions and forensic clinics.

Critical processes

In the Netherlands certain businesses are always classified as critical. This applies to around 100 businesses which were already aware of their status. If you are a key worker in one of these critical processes, you can send your children to school or childcare. National transportation/distribution of electricity; regional distribution of electricity; gas production and national transportation/distribution of gas; regional distribution

of gas; heating oil supplies; Internet and data services; Internet access and data traffic; speech-communication services and text messaging; geolocation and time information via GNS; drinking water supplies; flood defences and water management; flight and aircraft handling; vessel traffic service ; large-scale production, processing and/or storage of chemicals and petrochemicals; storage, production and processing of nuclear materials; retail transactions; consumer financial transactions; high-value transactions between banks; securities trading; communication with and between emergency services through 112 and C2000; police deployment; Personal Records Database and Organisational Records Database; interconnectivity (transaction infrastructure between records database); electronic messaging and the provision of information to the public; identification and authentication of citizens and businesses; military deployment; passenger and freight transport by rail; transport by road

Source: https://www.government.nl/documents/publications/2020/03/20/childcare-for-childrenof-people-working-in-crucial-sectors; later on replaced by https://www.government.nl/documents/ publications/2020/12/15/childcare-for-children-of-people-working-in-crucial-sectors

Annex 2 A visual representation of the hierarchy of control



Source: OSHA, https://www.osha.gov/safer-chemicals/why-transition



D/2021/10.574/11 ISBN: 978-2-87452-600-8 (print version) ISBN: 978-2-87452-601-5 (electronic version)



European Trade Union Institute

Bd du Roi Albert II, 5 1210 Brussels Belgium +32 (0)2 224 04 70 etui@etui.org www.etui.org